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To Our Stockholders

Our global markets steadi‘ed in 2003 from the downward trend that
marked 2001 and 2002. jln 2003, we enjoyed modest improvements
in sales and net loss andia big improvement in positive operating
cash flow. For 2003, theicompany posted net sales of $54.9 miltion
compared with $54.3 million for 2002. Net loss per share for 2003
was $0.08 compared with a net loss per share of $0.10 in 2002,
Cash flow from operating activities for the year improved to $5.8
million compared with just $0.7 mitlion in 2002. The strength of
our balance sheet, imprerd operating cash flow, and projected needs
for cash all enabled the company to pay its first dividend as a public
company in August 2003 of $2.0 million or $0.04 per share. In
January 2004, the compahy followed by instituting an annual dividend;
and in February 2004, paid out $2.5 million or $.05 per share.

In 2003, we saw a resurgence in sales of DSL products in the fourth
quarter. Our Sunset MTT!led the way with configurations optimized
for DSL Internet service maintenance by field technicians. Although
the ADSL application poWered the fourth quarter, the SunSet MTT
features over 30 configufations, offering industry-leading solutions
for DSL, wideband copper diagnhostics, special services, and new
optical applications. Our fiber optic SONET/SDH test sets sold well
in 2003, and we target our Scalable Test Toolkit (STT) for central
office applications to increase its relative penetration through a
growing and maturing set of solutions. With our signaling products,
we're focusing on evo|vinjg opportunities in Voice over Internet
Protocol (VOIP) and emefging cellular network service applications.

Our cable broadband business slowed in 2003, hurt by the industry-
wide reduction in capitallexpenditures as cable companies reduced
their debt levels, and alsp by increased competition for our CM prod-
uct family. However, we ¢ffer an attractive solution that spans from
cable headend to the customer premises with improved utility in
spectrum analyzers and rimetwork monitoring.

Growlh Opportuniiliecs

Our telecom and cable clistomers have an opportunity to sell more
services and reduce delivery costs to their residential customers by
providing a single connection for muitiple services such as voice,
video, and Internet. This lbiurring of telecom and cable is creating an
oversupply of providers and heightened competition resulting in an
evolutionary struggle to reach a new service delivery norm. |n addition
to the challenges of operéting in such an environment, we see growth
opportunities in this conéolidation by continuing to innovate new
installations, operations, and service verification solutions that better
support the changed needs of consolidated service delivery, Beyond
this change in residential lservice delivery, we also see growing adoption
of Ethernet-based servicés in the business sector creating new needs
for service verification and diagnostic equipment. Finally, wireless
service delivery seeks to offer more messaging and internet access
services to today's mobile customer, generating additional new oppor-
tunities in our business,

Sunrise has adapted nimbly to these challenges and opportunities,
rapidly expanding its applications in the last four years. In one
dimension, we have reached out from our wireline background to also
have solid performance in fiber optics, cable broadband, and protocol.
In another dimension, we have leveraged the technologies and cus-
tomers we developed with our field installation and commissioning
sofutions to begin to grow into related applications in core network
diagnostics, network monitoring, manufacturing, and R&D. We intend
to use this broadened footing to become a much larger company.

Thank you for your interest.

PG

Paul Ker-Chin Chang
Chief Executive Officer,
President and Chairman of the Board

T

Paul A. Marshal!
Chief Operating Officer
Acting Chief Financial Officer and Director
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including, without limitation, statements
regarding possible growth in the market for telecommunications test equipment and new product development. Except
for historical information, the matters discussed in this report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements that are
subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected due to
certain factors, inciuding those discussed below in “ltem 7—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Risk Factors Affecting Future Operating Results” and elsewhere in this report.
You should not rely solely on any forward-looking statements in this report to support an investment decision. The
following discussion should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
included elsewhere in this report on Form 10-K.

PART 1.

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

We manufacture and market service verification equipment that enables service providers to pre-qualify facilities
for services, verify newly installed services, and diagnose problems relating to telecommunications, cable broadband,
and internet networks. Our products offer broad functionality, leading edge technology, and compact size to test
broadband services; these include wireline access services (including DSL), fiber optics, cable broadband networks,
and signaling networks. We design our products to maximize technicians’ effectiveness in the field and to provide
realistic network simulations for equipment manufacturers to test their products. Qur customers include incumbent
local exchange carriers, cable companies, competitive local exchange carriers, and other service providers, network
infrastructure suppliers, and installers throughout North America, Latin America, Europe, Africa, the Middle East, and
the Asia/Pacific region.

in October 1991, we were incorporated in California as Sunrise Telecom, inc. In July 2000, we reincorporated in
Delaware and changed our name to Sunrise Telecom Incorporated (“Sunrise™). “Sunrise Telecom,” “SunSet,” and
“Sunlite” are trademarks of Sunrise Telecom Incorporated. This report on Form 10-K also includes references to
registered service marks and trademarks of other entities.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND
High-Speed Data Access

Data traffic in the United States and Canada has surpassed the amount of voice traffic carried on the existing
telephone network. Consumers are seeking higher-speed access to bandwidth intensive content and services, such as
highly graphical Web sites and audio, video, and software downloads. As an increasing number of internet users access
more and different content, the ability to connect to and receive data from the internet at high speeds has become and
will continue to become more important.

One primary investment area is the redesign of the access network to suppert broadband access to end users. This
portion of the network between the customer's premise and the service provider's central office is also known as the
“last-mite.” The last mile typically consists of copper wires that operate at substantially lower transmission speeds than
those offered in the long-haul segment of a network or by some available broadband alternatives. These copper wires
were originally intended to carry only analog circuit-switched, low-speed voice signals and, as a result, have become a
bottleneck that limits high-speed data transmission. Several access technologies are being deployed to support higher-
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speed Internet access in the networks, including digital subscriber lines, digital cable broadband, fiber optics, and
broadband wireless. In addition, the signaling portion of the network is essential to the integration of new broadband
services into the existing telecommunications network. We summarize some of these technologies below.

Wireline l4(:cess Technology. Wireline access technology includes such technologies as “Plain Old Telephone
Service” (“POTS”), T-carrier, E-carrier, ISDN, and digital subscriber line technology. Digital subscriber line technology,
commonly known as DSL, today transmits data up to 50 times faster than a conventional dial-up modem over a POTS
line using the existing copper telephone wires. Various implementations of DSL are being developed and deployed,
including asymmetric DSL, known as ADSL, symmetric DSL, know as SDSL, high bit-rate DSL, known as HDSL, and
integrated services digital network DSL, known as IDSL. Service providers deploying DSL technology include incumbent
local exchangg carriers, such as SBC Communications Inc., Yerizon Communications Inc., and Sprint Corporation.

Cable Broadband Networks. Cable broadband operators use two-way cable, cable modems installed in the home,
cable modem: termination systems installed at major cable concentration points, and network headend equipment
designed to connect their cable broadband networks to video feeds and other networks. Several cable companies are
currently offering broadband access services across two-way cable, including Comcast, Charter Communications, Cox,
and TimeWarner Cable.

Fiber Optics. Fiber optic cables use pulses of light to transmit digital information. Because fiber optic cables
support thousands of high-speed, local digital connections onto a single higher-speed connection to the central office or
the central side of the cable broadband network where the video signals emanate, they offer virtually unlimited
bandwidth capécity. Due to their high capacity, fiber optic cables are being used increasingly in the access network in
both telecommunications and cable broadband applications. Today, fiber optic cables carry higher bandwidths by
increasing the wavelength modulation speed from 2.5 Gbps or by carrying multiple wavelengths on a single fiber.
Common wavelength multiplexing schemes include Coarse Wavelength Division Multiplexing (CWDM) and Dense
Wavelength Division Multipiexing (DWDM).

Signaling. " Telephone systems require a signaling mechanism to set up and tear down phone calls. These signals
serve functions such as supervising or monitaring the status of a line or circuit to see if it is busy, idle, or requesting
service; alerting or indicating the arrival of an incoming call; and addressing or transmitting routing and destination
signals over thg network. Signaling System 7, or SS7, is the standard signaling system used by telecom networks
worldwide. Signaling networks must support new access technologies to ensure interoperability with the existing
telephone network.

The Need for Service Verification Equipment

In order to successfully deploy and maintain broadband networks, service providers rely on sophisticated service
verification equipment. This equipment allows service providers to pre-qualify facilities for services, verify proper
operation of newly instailed services, and diagnose problems. In addition, equipment manufacturers use service
verification equipment fo test simulated networks during equipment development and verify the successful production
of equipment. Service verification equipment can be grouped into the following three types: field verification, remote
testing, and alatrm and surveillance.

Field Ver/ﬁ¢at/on Equipment. Field verification equipment is used by service providers to probe the actual wires,
cables, or airwaves fo verify that a service works. In the case of a service malfunction, a field technician can use the
equipment to locate the exact fault so that repairs can be made. Research and development labs, manufacturing
departments, and central office technicians also use field verification equipment in their day-to-day operations. Of the
three types of service verification equipment, field verification equipment delivers the most detailed service information.
Service providers have found field verification to be an effective method to help to ensure that the lines operate properly.
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Remote Test Equipment. Remote test equipment can help verify services and identify certain types of service
malfunctions from a centralized location. The equipment is typically controlled by a centralized test system that
automates much of the remote testing process. It is commonly used to determine which section within a 3,000 mile
circuit has maffunctioned and to diagnose quickly the nature of a customer’s complaint. Due to its centralized and
automated nature, remote test equipment is an efficient way to complement field test equipment in the deployment and
maintenance of broadband networks.

Alarm and Surveillance Equipment. Alarm and surveiflance equipment constantly monitors the telephone
network, searching for facility or service degradations, including outages. When a problem is noticed, a report may be
sent immediately to an automated trouble diagnostic system or to a human operator who interprets the message and
decides what further action is required. Corrective action typically involves field verification or remote test equipment to
identify and correct specific problems.

Because the competition is intense for subscribers for high-speed bandwidth access, the quality and reliability of
network service has become critical to service providers who may lose customers and revenue and be subject to
negative publicity as a result of providing poor service. Field technicians who use service verification equipment aljow
service providers to verify and repair service problems effectively and, thus, increase the quality and reliabitity of the
network.

THE SUNRISE SOLUTION

We design and manufacture service verification equipment, physical layer diagnostic equipment, and monitoring
systems that enable service providers to pre-qualify facilities for services, verify newly installed services, monitor the
performance of video and signaling networks, and diagnose problems relating to copper twisted pair, coaxial cable, and
optical fibers. Our products also enable equipment manufacturers fo test simulated networks during equipment
development and verify the successful production of equipment. Our field products offer the following features:

e Design Flexibility. We design our products to be fiexible and to evolve as customer needs change. Our CM
1000, SunSet MTT, and SunSth xDSL product lines, for example, allow field technicians the ability to upgrade
their equipment easily through a variety of plug-in hardware modules. This flexible design atlows the customer
to adapt the test set to new services and applications as network standards evolve.

s Customer Driven Features. Each of our products is tailored to our customers’ needs. Our marketing
engineers interact with our customers during the design process to ensure that our products are the best
available solution for them.

¢ Handheld Design. We use handheld designs for most of our products to be used in the field. The compact,
lightweight design of these products enhances field technicians’ ability to easily carry these devices with them
to diagnose problems and verify line operation. For example, the SunSet Ocx is the first asynchronous transfer
made (ATM) fiber optic field test set small enough to be held in the palm of a technician’s hand, and we
believe that the SunSet 10G is the world's smallest 1.5 Mbps to 9.9 Gbps Sonet/SDH test set available.

Because of the design and functionality of our products, we provide the foliowing benefits to our customers:

e Rapid and Efficient Deployment. Qur products allow field and office technicians to test lines rapidly and
efficiently to verify that they are properly connected to the central office and that they can support a specific
type and speed of service. In a single device, our products can be used to pre-gualify facilities for services,
identify the source of problems, and verify the proper operation of newly installed service before handing
service aver to customers.




* Improved Network Quality and Reliability. Our products diagnose and locate a variety of problems and
degradations in established broadband networks allowing service providers to identify and repair problems and
to restore service efficiently.

PRODUCTS

Our majori products, grouped by product category, are as follows:

WIRE LINE ACCESS PRODUCTS

SunSet MTT ] Qur Modular Test Toolkit, referred to as the SunSet MTT, is a test set for access
| network service installation and maintenance. It features a variety of handheld
SunSet chassis configurations with support for over 30 different test modules to
fit applications ranging from DSL, Ethernet, copper diagnostics, T1 and E1
transmission, analog Voice Frequency circuits, and transport and, in some new
modules, fiber optics. The SunSet MTT’s modularity allows field technicians to
use a single unit to test a broad variety of services found in today’s access
netwerk. The unit finds troubles with the physical transmissicn media, verifies
proper signal transmission, verifies proper performance of the service to the
customer, and in general helps identify the problem on a troubled circuit. In
addition, the modular, evolving architecture protects a customer’s investment in
the test equipment.

SunSet T10 ] Handheld unit that supports transmission testing for T1, with service verification
and diagnostics for multiple data protocols, voice services, and signaling
technologies.

SunSet ISDN, ® These products support analysis and service verification for the Integrated

Sunlite BRI Services Digital Network, known as ISDN. ISDN is an enhanced digital network
‘ that offers more bandwidth than the traditional analog telephone network.

SunlLite E1 “ . Pocket-sized unit that supports transmission testing for E1.

SunSet E20 [ ] Handheld unit that supports transmission testing for E1 and service verification

for data, voice, mobile, and other signaling protocols.

CABLE BRDADEAND PRODUCTS

CM1000, ° Handheld units for cable modem instaliation and field testing. Different

Install Profilers; configurations are available to support varying degrees of test sophistication
from analog and digital signal level measurements, to digital measurements, and
video and DOCSIS cable modem testing. The product series is easily
upgradeable to offer an economical growth strategy for evolving installation
needs.

3010H ‘ . Rack-mounted headend analyzer that determines whether the broadband
system is operating reliably and delivering quality, distortion-free signals. It

supports up to 10 field instruments (3010R, 3010B, 2010B and N1776A) in a
return path mode and an unlimited number as a forward sweep transmitter.

2010/30108 . ] Rugged handheld Signal Level Meter (SLM) offers buiit-in comparison and
analysis capability as well as the standard signal level measurements.




3010R

N1776A Network
Profiler

AT2500

ATZ000HMQ

realWORX

Rugged handheld field unit includes forward sweep, return sweep and SLM
capabilities. The 3010R can also function as a headend unit for troubleshooting
intermittent problems in specific network segments.

Field portable instrument for preventive maintenance and troubleshooting cable
networks. It combines the function of a spectrum analyzer, forward and return
sweep system, and digital analyzer to address current and emerging test
requirements in a single unit.

Lightweight, rugged, full-featured CATV Spectrum Analyzer that performs
advanced field testing including finding fast transient ingress and complex proof
of performance testing. In addition to its enhanced spectrum analysis, the
AT2500 features CATV, QAM, and video analysis.

Rack-mounted headend Spectrum Analyzer provides remote visibility into
headend and plant performance. It performs remote headend testing of both
analog and digital downstream and upstream signals from 1 MHz to 1 GHz.

A fully automated broadband performance verification system that monitors
upstream and downstream signal quality on a continual basis from a headend or
hub site. It verifies the quality of downstream QAM and Analog CATV channels
and ensures that the Return Path Ingress levels are within acceptable limits.

FIBER OPTIC PRODUCTS

STT

PMDE

SunSet 10G

SunSet SDH

SunSet OCx

SunSet MTT

A portable, modular unit designed to test the core and metro optical networks.
The Scalable Test Toolkit, referred to as the STT, supports SONET, SDH,
DWDMWM, and Ethernet/Gigabit Ethernet testing through a family of stackable test
modules. The STT offers advanced analysis and diagnostic tools for exchange,
central office and laboratory applications.

An advanced, experimental simulation product for laboratory and research
environments that introduces Polarization Mode Dispersion (PMD, a leading
cause of signal degradation in high bit-rate optical networks) into optical
components, instruments, and networks to test performance.

A compact handheld unit that supports transmission testing for metropolitan
and core optical networks. It supports both SONET and SDH networks, including
both electrical and optical signal testing from 1.5 Mbps to 10 Gbps bit rates.

A handheld unit that supports international SDH and digital transmission types
found throughout the metropolitan and access networks worldwide. The SunSet
SDH includes both electrical and optical signal testing and performs advanced
service verification for various applications like ATM, mobile, ISDN, and voice.

A handheld unit that supports North American SONET and digitat transmission
types found throughout the metropolitan and access networks worldwide. The
SunSet OCx includes both electrical and optical signal testing and performs
advanced service verification for various applications like ATM, mobile, ISDN,
and voice.

The SunSet MTT for the wireline access market also offers physical layer testing
and characterization for fiber optic links.




SIGNALING TESTING PRODUCTS

3GMaster ' . Central office unit to monitor second and third generation mobile networks.
Applications include regular network maintenance, billing verification, network
traffic statistics, quality of service testing, and troubleshooting complex problems
like roaming and internetworking.

NeTracker . ] Advanced analyzer for testing the multiple protocols and data rates found in
next-generation Voice over IP (VolP) networks. Applications include service
verification, protocol analysis, voice guality testing, and stress testing for the
VolP environment.

Ghepardo [ ] Central office unit to monitor the major signaling protocols of the telecom
network including SS7, mobile, and data communication. Web-based user
interface allows users to control the product from anywhere in the world using
standard web-browser software.

The percentage of our total revenue contributed by each class of products were as follows:

Year ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000

Wireline ACCeSS . ... I 44% 42% 62% 80%
Cable Broadband ....... ... .. . . . 26% 33% 14% 4%
Fiber OptiCS oot e 25% 21% 19% 12%
Signaling .. ..o e 5% 4% 5% 4%

These product categories comprise our sole operating segment, telecommunications, cable broadband, and

internet network testing equipment.

CUSTOMERS

Our custorrﬁers include telecommunications service providers, cable network operators, network infrastructure
suppliers and installers, technicians, and engineers in North America, Latin America, Europe, Africa, the Middle East,
and the Asia/Pacific region. The following is a list of certain of our customers to which we made significant amounts of

sales during 2003:
AT&T Corporation Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd.
BCE inc. (Bell Canada) KT Freetel Co., Lid.
BellSouth Telecom, Inc. Nippon Telegraph and Telephone Corporation
British‘yTeIecom SBC Communications Inc.
Chungwa Telecom Telkom SA, Ltd.
Comcast Cable Time Warner Cable
Cox Communications, Inc. United States Department of Defense
Etisalat Verizon Communications Inc.

As of December 31, 2003, we had sold versions of our products to over 2,000 customers in over 60 countries. SBC
Communications inc. accounted for 13% of our net sales in 2003. No other individual customer accounted for 10% or
more of our net sales in 2003, and no individual customer accounted for 10% or more of our net sales in 2002 and
2001. See “ltem 37.—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Risk

Factors Affecting Future Operating Results—Customer Concentration.”
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SALES, MARKETING AND CUSTOMER SERVICE

Sales. We sell our products to telecommunications service providers, cable network operators, network
infrastructure suppliers and installers, technicians, and engineers through manufacturers’ representatives, independent
distributor organizations, and our direct sales force.

In the United States, we sell our products through manufacturers’ representatives who are supported by our in-
house direct sales force. Manufacturers’ representatives are paid on a commission basis and have exclusive rights in
their respective regions. Qur manufacturers’ representatives or direct salesmen solicit orders from the customer, and we
ship our products directly to the customer. We pay commissions once we have received payment from the customer.
Our direct sales force includes a team of regional sales managers who direct the efforts of our manufacturers’
representatives and regional account managers who focus on specific accounts within a region.

Outside the United States, we sell our products through a mix of our own sales offices and independent distributor
organizations, which are directed by our regional directors of marketing and sales. In general, we sell our products to
the distributor at a discount from the end user price, and the distributor or sales office then resells the products to the
end user. International sales, including North American sales to Canada, were $21.3 million or 39% of total net sales in
2003, $16.1 milfion or 30% in 2002, and $29.7 million or 38% in 2001. We expect that international sales will continue
to account for a significant portion of our net sales in future periods. In addition to our network of international
distributors, we have sales offices based in Anjou, Canada; Beijing, China; Tokyo, Japan; Seoul, Korea; Modena, ltaly;
Geneva, Switzerland; and Stuttgart, Germany. See “ltern 7.—Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Risk Factors Affecting Future Operating Resulis—Risks of International
Operations.”

We sell our products predominantly to large telecommunications and cable service providers. These types of
customers generally commit significant resources to an evaluation of our and our competitors' products and require
each vendor to expend substantial time, effort, and money educating them about the value of the vendor's solutions.
Consequently, sales to this type of customer generally require an extensive sales effort throughout the prospective
customer’s organization and final acceptance of our products by an executive officer or other senior level employee. The
result is lengthy sales and implementation cycles, which make sales forecasting difficult. In addition, even after a large
service provider has approved our product for purchase, their future purchases are uncertain because we generally do
not enter into long-term supply agreements or requirements contracts with those parties. Delays associated with a
customers’ internal approval and contracting procedures, procurement practices, and testing and acceptance
processes are common and may cause potential sales to be delayed or foregone. As a result of these and related
factors, the sales cycle of new products for large customers typically ranges from six to twenty-four months.

We generally do not sell our products with rights of return; on the few occasions when we have agreed to provide
customers with rights of return, we have deferred recognition of sales revenue untit the rights of return have lapsed. We
also generate a relatively small amount of revenue from the sale of extended warranties on our products. We defer this
revenue and recognize it evenly over the term of the extended warranties. We generally do not provide extended
payment terms to our customers.

Marketing. We market and promote sales of our products by the following activities:

*  Qur product marketing group researches new opportunities, prepares product definitions with our research
and development group, and defines new features to create new products;

*  The overall marketing group hosts a variety of seminars several times a year in the United States, Asia, Europe,
and Latin America to improve the sales effectiveness of our manufacturers’ representatives and international
distributors;




¢ Qur product marketing engineers, regional sales managers, and account managers travel extensively with our
manufacturers’ representatives and international distributors to develop new product opportunities with
customers and to support their presentations;

e The njarketing communications group maintains a public Web site, publishes brochures and specification
sheets, and generates press releases and publicity to increase our recognition in the telecommunications
industry;

*  Ourtechnical publications group prepares user's manuals, field manuals, quick reference guides, and product
operaﬁion videos to serve the needs of our users; and

e Qur training department prepares customer training presentations and sponsors Sunrise University, a factory-
based:training program for our customers.

Customer Service. We believe that customer service following the sale of our products is a critical ingredient to
our success. We provide customer service in numerous ways, including the following:

e providing rapid instrument repair services;

e operating a 24 hour per day telephone support line to help customers who are having difficulty using our
products in their particular application;

e maintaining a proprietary Web site containing on-line, up-to-the-minute product repair information for our
distributors” international repair centers, with a factory-certified technician training program for our distributors’
internaiional repair center technicians; and

¢ measuring the satisfaction of our customers and communicating this information internally for corrective
action.

SEASONALITY

Our sales have been seasonal in nature and tied to the buying patterns of our customers. Prior to 2000, the largest
volume of quarte;rly sales had usually been during the last calendar quarter of the year, as customers spent the unused
portions of their,annual budgets. In 2001 and 2000, there was a change in this fourth quarter seasonality as our
customers had fewer remaining unused budget dollars available to generate an increase in the fourth quarter seasonal
sales. In 2002, However, we saw a return to the pre-2000 pattern, with increased sales in the fourth quarter. Also in
2003, our fourthiquarter was our largest quarter of the 2003 fiscal year with sales of $20.4 million. However, our 2004
fiscal year visibility is limited, and we expect that our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly and will be
difficult to predict due to the lengthy and unpredictable buying patterns of our customers, the degree to which our
customers allocate and spend their yearly budgets, and the timing of our customers’ budget processes. See “ltem 7.—
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Risk Factors Affecting Future
Operating Results—Quarterly Fluctuations.”

BACKLOG

Our backlog of customer orders at December 31, 2003 was approximately $6.4 million compared to approximately
$4.4 million at December 31, 2002. Prior to the time of shipment, customers may cancel orders that they have placed
with us, but theyi must reimburse us for any production costs incurred prior to the cancellation. Order cancellations
have historically not been significant in relation to our order backlog. Variations in the size and delivery schedules of
purchase orders that we receive, as well as changes in customers' delivery requirements may resuit in substantial
fluctuations in theiamount of backiog orders for our products from quarter to quarter.
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RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Our engineering personnel have expertise in a number of fields, including interfacing test equipment with digital
loop carriers, voice and data switching technology, local loop equipment, and operations support systems. We spent
approximately $16.1 million on research and development in 2003, $16.7 million in 2002, and $17.8 million in 2001.
Research and development represents our largest direct employment expense. At December 31, 2003, we had a total
of 110 employees engaged in research and development in San Jose, California; Norcross, Georgia; Anjou, Canada;
Modena, ltaly; Taipei, Taiwan; and Geneva, Switzerland.

We believe that our continued success depends on our ability to anticipate and respond to changes in the
telecommunications industry and anticipate and satisfy our customers' preferences and requirements. Accordingly, we
continually review and evaluate technological and regulatory changes affecting the telecommunications industry and
seek to offer products and capabilities that solve customers’ operational challenges and improve their efficiency. In
general, we spend from two months to four years developing a new product.

REGULATIONS AND INDUSTRY STANDARDS

Qur products are designed to comply with a significant number of industry standards and regulations, some of
which are evolving as new technologies are deployed. In the United States, our products must comply with various
regulations defined by the Federal Communications Commission and Underwriters Laboratories as well as industry
standards established by Telcordia Technologies, Inc., formerly Bellcore, and the American National Standards
Institute. Internationally, our products must comply with standards established by the European Committee for
Electrotechnical Standardization, the European Committee for Standardization, the European Telecommunications
Standards Institute, telecommunications authorities in various countries, and with recommendations of the International
Telecommunications Union. The failure of our products to comply, or delays in compliance, with the various existing
and evolving standards could negatively impact our ability to sell our products.

MANUFACTURING AND SOURCES OF SUPPLY

Our production process consists of planning, procurement, fabrication, rework, system assembly, system final test,
software option customization, and shipping. We purchase substantially all parts, including resistors, integrated circuit
boards, LCDs, and printed circuit boards, from distributors and manufacturers worldwide. We package these parts into
kits and either send them to local contract manufacturers to assemble them into printed circuit boards or assemble
them ourselves at our Taipei, Taiwan facility. We perform substantially all remaining manufacturing operations. We
maintain sourcing and manufacturing operations in San Jose, California; Norcross, Georgia; Anjou, Canada; Taipei,
Taiwan; and Modena, Italy. In 2001 and 2002, we performed the majority of sourcing, contract manufacturing, and final
assembly in San Jose, California and Taipei, Taiwan. Our San Jose, Taiwan, and Modena, ltaly operations are ISO 9001
certified. In 2003, we increased our manufacturing capacity in Taiwan, while reducing capacity in San Jose to reduce
overall production costs. Our Taiwan subsidiary, Taiwan Sunrise Telecom Company Limited, is a turn-key manufacturer
and local procurement operation. We intend to continue increasing the use of our Taiwan subsidiary for complete turn-
key manufacturing to help lower our manufacturing costs.

In our manufacturing process, we purchase many key products, such as microprocessors, bus interface chips,
optical components, and oscillators, from a single source or from that source's sole supplier. We rely exclusively on
third-party subcontractors to manufacture certain sub-assemblies, and we have retained, from time to time, third party
design services in the development of our products. We do not have long-term supply agreements with these vendors.
In general, we make advance purchases of some products and components to help to ensure an adeguate supply. See
“ltem 7.—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Risk Factors
Affecting Future Operating Results—Dependence on Sole and Single Source Suppliers.”
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For sales information regarding operations in different geographic regions, see Note 16 to our consolidated
financial statements. A total of $24.4 million of our net property and equipment is located in the United States and $2.5
million is Iocatéd in other countries. See “ltem 7.—Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Risk Factors Affecting Future Operating Results—Risks of international Operations.”

COMPETITION

The market for field verification test equipment is fragmented and intensely competitive, both inside and outside
the United States, and is subject to rapid technological change, evolving industry standards, regulatory developments,
and varied and changing customer preferences and requirements. We compete with a number of United States and
international suppliers that vary in size and in the scope and breadth of the products and services offered. The following
table sets forth our principal competitors in each of our product categories:

Product Category Principal Competitors

Wireline Access 3M Dynatel; Acterna Corporation; Agilent Technologies, inc.;
: Consultronics; Fluke Corporation; Trend Communications
Fiber Optics SONET/SDH  Acterna Corporation; Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Digital Lightwave, Inc.;
} Exfo Electro-Optical Engineering inc.; NetTest; Trend Communications
Cable TV Acterna Corporation; Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Trilithic, Inc.
Signaling Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Inet Technologies, Inc.; NetTest

We expect that as our industry and market evolve, new competitors or alliances among competitors could emerge
and acquire significant market share. We anticipate that competition in our markets will increase with the result that we
will face greater threats to our market share, price pressure on our products, and the possibility that, over time, our
profitability may decrease.

We believeithat the principal competitive factors in our market include the following:

* continued high level of investment in research and development and marketing;

* speedlof new product development and introductions to market;

¢ depthiof product functionality;

® ease Qf installation, integration, and use;

*  system reliability and performance;

e price and financing terms;

. techni}cal support and customer service;

* size arpd stability; and

e compliance with government and industry standards.

We believelthat we compete favorably on the basis of these factors.

INTELLECTUAL'PROPERTY AND PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY

Our intelleétual property, including our proprietary technology, processes and know-how, trade secrets, patents,
trademarks, and copyrights, is important to our business and to our continued success. We have six patents relating to
communicationé testers that expire between 2007 and 2012, and we have filed several applications for additional
patents with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and with foreign patent offices. Our research and development and
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manufacturing process typically involves the use and development of a variety of forms of intellectual property and
proprietary technology, although no one particular form of this intellectual property and proprietary technology is
material to our business. In addition, we incorporate software, some of which we may license from third party sources.
These licenses generally renew automatically on an annual basis. We believe that alternative technologies for this
licensed software are available both domestically and internationally.

We protect our proprietary technology by the following means:

¢ relying on intellectual property law, including patent, trade secret, copyright, and trademark law and by
initiating litigation when necessary to enforce our rights;

*  limiting access to our software, documentation, and other proprietary information; and

+ entering into confidentiality agreements with our employees.

EMPLOYEES

At December 31, 2003, we had a total of 377 full-time employees, consisting of 180 in the United States, 91 in
Taiwan, 29 in ftaly, 57 in Canada, 5 in Korea, 4 in Switzerland, 7 in China, 3 in Japan, and 1 in Germany. We also had
5 temporary employees at December 31, 2003, Of the total full-time employees, 110 were engaged in research and
development, 94 were engaged in sales, marketing and customer support, 126 were engaged in operations, and 47
were engaged in administration and finance. None of our employees is subject to a collective bargaining agreement.
The employees of our Pro.Tel subsidiary are protected by certain provisions of italian law. We believe that our relations
with our employees are good. See “ltem 7. —Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resuits
of Operations—Risk Factors Affecting Future Operating Results—Dependence on Key Employees.”

EXECUTIVE OFFICERS

The names and ages of our executive officers as of December 31, 2003 are as follows:

Name Age  Position(s)

Paul Ker-Chin Chang .... 45 Chairman, Chief Executive Officer, and President

Paul A. Marshall .. ... ... .46 Chief Operating Officer, Vice President Marketing, Acting Chief Financial
Officer, and Director

Raffaele Gerbasi........ 42  Vice President and General Manager Cable Broadband Group

ScottE.Green ......... 38 Corporate Controller

JeongE. Joo........... 39 Chief Technology Officer

Kirk O. Williams ........ 34  General Counsel and Secretary

Paul Ker-Chin Chang co-founded Sunrise in October 1991 and has served as Chairman, Chief Executive Officer,
and President since that time. From 1984 to 1991, Mr. Chang was employed as Engineering Supervisor for the Wiltron
division of Anritsu Corporation, a manufacturer of communications test equipment. Mr. Chang holds an M.S. in
Electrical Engineering from the University of Kansas at Lawrence and a B.S. in Physics from Tunghai University in
Taiwan.

Paul A. Marshall co-founded Sunrise in October 1991 and has served as Chief Operating Officer since December
1998, as Vice President of Marketing since March 1992, Acting Chief Financial Officer since October 2002, and as a
director since October 1991. Mr. Marshall also served as Chief Financial Officer of Sunrise from March 1992 unti)
December 1999. From 1980 to 1992, Mr. Marshall held various positions with the Wiltron division of Anritsu
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Corporation. Mr. Marshall holds an M.B.A. from the Harvard Business School and a B.S. in Mechanical Engineering
from the University of California at Davis.

Raffaele Gerbasi joined Sunrise in January 2001 and has served as Vice President and General Manager Cable
Broadband Division since September 1, 2001. Mr. Gerbasi formed Avantron Technologies in 1989 as a wholly-owned
division of Dynastie Electronics and heid the position of President prior to its acquisition by Sunrise in January 2001. A
graduate of the Radio Electronic Television School, Mr. Gerbasi started his career in the cable broadband industry in
1979. From 1979 to 1984, Mr. Gerbasi was employed as Technical Services Manager for incospec Elecironics, a
Canadian cable broadband equipment company. In 1984, Mr. Gerbasi joined Dynastie, a cable broadband service and
engineering company and became President and sole owner in 1987.

Scott E. Green joined Sunrise in February 2000 and has served as Corporate Controller since October 2002. Mr.
Green also served as Assistant Controller from March 2001 to October 2002 and Accounting Manager from February
2000 to March 2001. Before joining Sunrise, Mr. Green was an Accounting Manager with ITT Industries from May 1997
to February 2000. Prior to 1997, Mr. Green held senior accountant positions with the public accounting firms Deloitte &
Touche LLP and KPMG LLP. Mr. Green is a Certified Public Accountant and a Certified Management Accountant and is
a member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Institute of Management Accountants. Mr.
Green holds an M.B.A. from the University of California at Irvine and a B.A. in Economics from the University of
California at Berkeley.

Jeong E. Jbo joined Sunrise in March 1994 and has served as Chief Technology Officer since July 2001. Mr. Joo
served as Director of Engineering—New Technologies from December 2000 to July 2001. Since joining Sunrise in
1994, Mr. Joo has held lead engineering development and management positions in the Engineering Department,
contributing most recently to our fiber optics products. Mr. Joo held engineering management positions with Taihan
Electric Wire, Co. Ltd., a telecom electronics company in Korea, from 1988 to March 1994, Mr. Joo hoids a BSEE from
Chungang University, Seoul, Korea.

Kirk O. Williams joined Sunrise in December 2002 and has served as General Counsel and Secretary since January
2003. Mr. Williams Is the Company's chief legal, compliance, and ethics officer and is responsible for our corporate
governance initi?tives and the protection of the Company’s legal interests and operations worldwide. Prior to joining
Sunrise, Mr. Williams served as Vice President, Legal and Corporate Affairs, Assistant General Counsel at Exodus
Communications, Inc., where he oversaw the company's global reorganization and sale to Cable & Wireless. While at
Exodus, Mr. Williams also served as Associate General Counsel, Business Development, Finance and Strategy and as
Senior Corporate Counsel, responsible for, among other things, overseeing the company’s merger and acquisition, joint
venture, and cojrporate finance activities and securities compliance. Prior to joining Exodus, Mr. Williams practiced
corporate and securities law with the law firm Gray Cary Ware & Freidenrich LLP in Palo Alto, California. Mr. Williams
holds a J.D. from New York University School of Law and a dual B.A. in Economics and Political Science from Stanford
University.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Qur Web site can be found at www.sunrisetelecom.com. We make available free of charge, on or through our Web
site, our annual, quarterly and current reports, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable
after electronically filing such reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Information contained on our Web
site is not part of this report.

\
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our owned headquarters and manufacturing and research and development facility, which we built during 2001 on
property that we acquired that year, occupies 91,700 square feet in San Jose, California. As of December 31, 2003, we
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also leased 10,000 square feet of office and manufacturing space in Montreal, Canada; 16,500 square feet of office and
manufacturing space in Norcross, Georgia; 10,000 square feet of office and manufacturing space in Modena, Iltaly;
26,290 square feet of manufacturing and office space in Taipei, Taiwan; 6,742 square feet of office space in Santa
Rosa, California; 7,000 square feet of office and manufacturing space in Mannheim, Germany; and 2,000 square feet of
office space in Geneva, Switzerland. We lease sales offices in Beijing, China; Seoul, Korea; Tokyo, Japan; and Stuttgart,
Germany.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in litigation relating to claims arising out of our day-to-day operations. As of
December 31, 2003, we were not engaged in any legal proceedings that were expected, individually or in the aggregate,
to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flow.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

During the quarter ended December 31, 2003, there were no matters submitted to a vote of the security holders.
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Part Il.

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

INFORMATION ABOUT OUR COMMON STOCK

Our common stock has been traded on the Nasdaqg National Market under the symbol “SRT1” since our initial
public offering ion July 13, 2000. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the highest and lowest closing
sale prices for our common stock, as reported by the Nasdag National Market.

2003 , High Low 2002 High Low

FirstQuarter .................... $253 $1.71 FirstQuarter .................... $4.22 $2.45
Second Quarter .. ... .. L., $2.61 $1.80 Second Quarter . . ... ............. $3.65 $1.76
Third Quarter «.................. $3.20 $1.89 Third Quarter ................... $2.18 $1.26
Fourth Quarter .................. $5.00 $2.80 Fourth Quarter .................. $2.45 $1.35

As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately 86 stockholders of record of our common stock. We estimate that
as of March 1, 2004, there were approximately 2,750 beneficial owners of our common stock.

In July 2003, we declared and paid a cash dividend in the aggregate amount of approximately $2.0 million. We did
not declare or pay any cash dividend on cur common stock in 2002 or 2001. In January 2004, our board of directors
instituted an annual dividend for the Company and declared a cash dividend for 2004 in the aggregate amount of
approximately $2.5 million. We paid this dividend in February 2004. Qur board of directors will determine the amount of
future dividends based on our future financial condition and results of operations.

16



ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The table below sets forth summary consolidated financial information for the periods indicated. It is important that
you read this information together with the section entitled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and our audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Netsales . ... . ... .. . . . . . $ 54949 $ 54333 $ 79059 $113,481 $61,465
Costofsales ........ ... . . i 19,304 18,605 26,246 33,915 15,170
Gross profit .. ... 35,645 35,728 52,813 79,566 46,295
Operating expenses:
Research and development . ............ ... . 16,087 16,741 17,753 16,634 10,260
Sellingand marketing .. .................... 16,964 16,768 20,329 22,694 15,215
General and administrative . .. ............. .. 9,814 11,446 13,692 9,881 3,833
Total operatingexpenses . .................. 42,865 44,955 51,774 49,309 29,408
Income (loss) from operations ................... (7,220) (9,227) 1,039 30,257 16,887
Ctherincome,net. . ....................... 875 895 2,482 2,100 348
income (loss) before income taxes . .............. (6,345) (8,332) 3,621 32,357 17,235
income tax expense (benefit) ... ... .. ..., .. (2,475) (3,333) 704 11,972 6,291
Netincome (10sS) ... ... $ (3870) $ (4999 $ 2817 $ 20,385 $10,944
Dividends pershare ............ ... .. $ 004 % — 3 — % — $ 0015
Earnings (loss) per share: (1)
Basic ... ... $ (008 % (01 $ 006 $ 043 3 025
Diluted ... ... . . $ (008 $ (01 $ 005 $ 041 $ 024
Shares used in computing earnings per share: (1)
Basic ... .. 49,750 49,854 50,195 47374 44,667
Diluted ... .. 43,750 49,854 51,325 48,610 45824
December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:
Cashand cashequivalents ..................... $ 39885 $ 36,440 $ 48,713 $ 56,208 $ 8615
Working capital . ........ ... .. ... ... . ... 54,691 52,771 64,862 81,867 16,360
Total assets .. ... 116,607 118921 126,621 125556 38,266
Notes payable, less currentportion . .............. 1,095 1,177 1,065 1,047 638
Total stockholders' equity ...................... 103,557 105,769 111,753 105,644 25471

See Note 1 of the notes to consolidated financial statements for a detailed explanation of the determination of the
number of shares used to compute basic and diluted earnings per share.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS GF OPERATIONS

In addition to the other information in this report, certain statements in the following Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (MD&A) are forward-looking statements. Words such as
“expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends”, “plans”, “believes”, and similar words and expressions are intended fo
identify forward-looking statements. Such statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those projected. Such risks and uncertainties are set forth below under “Risk Factors
Affecting Future Operating Results.” The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated

financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this report.

OVERVIEW !

We manufacture and market service verification equipment that enables service providers to pre-qualify facilities
for sérvices, verify newly installed services, and diagnose problems relating to telecommunications, cable broadband,
and internet nétworks, Our products offer broad functionality, leading edge technology, and compact size to test
broadband services; these include wireline access services (including DSL), fiber optics, cable broadband networks,
and signaling networks. We design our products to maximize technicians’ effectiveness in the field and to provide
realistic network simulations for equipment manufacturers to test their products. Our customers include incumbent
local exchange carriers, cable companies, competitive local exchange carriers, and other service providers, network
infrastructure suppliers, and installers throughout North America, Latin America, Europe, Africa, the Middle East, and
the Asia/Pacific 'region.

For the past three years, many companies in the telecommunications industry throughout the world have been
experiencing decreased profitability resulting from many factors. The most significant of these factors are overbuilding of
certain portions of the telecommunications infrastructure during the late 1990s and increased overlap between the
previously separate businesses of wireless, local telephone services, and cable TV service, which has lead to increased
competition. We have been affected by this downturn, and after nine consecutive years of profitability, we were
unprofitable during each of the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2003. However, through conservative financial
management, we continued to generate positive cash flows from operating activities during those two years, and we
ended the year 2003 with a strong cash position and very low debt levels. We compete in the challenging
telecommunications equipment market by pursuing a strategy of offering products that address the needs of a diverse
group of telecornmunications service providers and by investing heavily in research and development to create high-
quality productsithat address evolving telecommunications technologies in innovative ways. We also continuously work
to minimize operating costs while executing this strategy.

We assess the overall performance of our business primarily through the use of financial metrics. Management
considers several factors to be particularly important when assessing past business success and projecting future
performance. The first such factor is our maintenance of high levels of working capital and low levels of debt. See
“Liquidity and Capital Resources”. This first factor is enabled by the second factor: The generation of cash flows from
our operating activities. Ultimately, our ability to consistently generate substantial positive cash flows is the primary
indicator of our business’s success and is imperative for our business's survival. See “Liquidity and Capital Resources”.
The third factor is profitability. In general, profitability provides an indication of our ability to generate present and future
cash flows from' our operating activities. The key components of our profitability are net sales, cost of sales, and
operating expenses. See the discussion directly below and “Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002
and “Comparisor‘n of the Years Ended December 31, 2002 and 2001."

Sources of Net Sales

We generaté our cash flows primarily from selling telecommunications network testing equipment, and our future
cash flows are la(gely dependent on our continuing ability to sell our products and collect cash from our customers for
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those sales. We consider investment in research and development and selling and marketing activities and the
continued development of new products to be critical to our ability to generate strong sales volume in the future, and we
continually seek to offer new products to meet our customer’s needs. Notably, in 2003 we introduced modules for our
hand-held SunSet MTT product line, which tests a variety of types of network, and for our SunSet STT, which is
primarily a fiber optics testing product, and the realWORX cable broadband testing product. During the three years
ended December 31, 2003, our research and development efforts have not generated the sales volumes to which we
had previously been accustomed. '

We sell our products predominantly to large telecommunications service providers. These types of customers
generally commit significant resources to the evaluation of our and our competitors’ products and require each vendor
to expend substantial time, effort, and money educating them about the value of the proposed solutions before the
customer agrees to purchase any amount of product. As a result of these and related factors, the sales cycle of new
products for large customers typically ranges from six to twenty-four months. During the past three years, we have
observed a significant decline in capital spending in the telecommunications industry, which may lengthen the sales
cycle further. Substantially all of our sales are made on the basis of purchase orders rather than long-term agreements
or requirements contracts. As a result, we commit resources to the development and production of products without
having received advance or long-term purchase commitments from customers. We anticipate that our operating results
for any given period will continue to be dependent to a significant extent on purchase orders, which can be delayed or
cancelled by our customers without penalty.

Historically, a significant portion of our net sales have come from a small number of relatively large orders from a
limited number of customers. One customer, SBC Communications Inc., comprised $7.2 million, or 13%, of our sales
in 2003. No customers comprised more than 10% of our sales in 2002 and 2001. Overall, we anticipate that our
operating results for a given period will be dependent on a small number of customers.

Our sales have been seasonal in nature and tied to the buying patterns of our customers. Prior to 2000, the largest
volume of quarterly sales had usually been during the last calendar quarter of the year, as customers spent the unused
portions of their annual budgets. In 2001 and 2000, there was a change in this fourth quarter seasonality as our
customers had fewer remaining unused budget dollars available to generate an increase in the fourth quarter seasonal
sales. in 2003 and 2002, however, we saw a return to the pre-2000 pattern, with increased szles in the fourth quarter.
Market conditions in our industry are currently too uncertain for us to predict whether or not this pattern will continue.
We expect that our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly and will be difficult to predict due to the length
and unpredictable buying patterns of our custamers, the degree to which our customers allocate and spend their yearly
budgets, and the timing of our customers’ budget processes.

CUrrently, competition in the telecommunications equipment market is intense and is characterized by declining
prices. Because of these market conditions and potential pricing pressures from large customers in the future, we
expect that the average selling price for our products will decline over time. If we fail to reduce our production costs
accordingly or fail to introduce higher margin new products, there will be a corresponding decline in our gross
margin percentage. See “Risk Factors Affecting Future Operating Results—Competition” and “—Risks of the
Telecommunications Industry.” .

A substantial portion of our net sales have come from customers located outside of the United States, and we
believe that future growth may depend on growth of our sales in international markets. These sales are primarily dollar
denominated, which limits our financial exposure to currency exchange rate fluctuations. Currently, we maintain a
manufacturing facility in Taipei, Taiwan; manufacturing, research, development, and sales facilities in Modena, ltaly;
manufacturing, research, development, and sales facilities in Anjou, Canada; and research and development facilities in
Geneva, Switzerland and Mannheim, Germany. We also have a representative liaison office in Beijing, China, and sales
offices in Tokyo, Japan; Seoul, Korea; Stuttgart, Germany; and Barbados. '
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We have a small amount of sales denominated in Euros and the Canadian dollar and have, in prior years used
derivative financial instruments to hedge our foreign exchange risks. As of December 31, 2003, we had no derivative
financial instruments. To date, foreign exchange exposure from sales has not been material to our operations. We have
also been exposed to fluctuations in non-U.S. currency exchange rates related to our manufacturing activities in Taiwan.
In the future, we expect that a growing portion of international sales may be denominated in currencies other than U.S.
dollars, thereby exposing us to gains and losses on non-U.S. currency transactions. See “Risk Factors Affecting Future
Operating Results—Risks of International Operations.”

Cost of Sales
Our cost of: sales consists primarily of the following:
e direct material costs of product components, manuals, product documentation, and product accessories;
¢ production wages, taxes, and benefits;
. aIIocaﬁed production overhead costs;
e warranty costs;
e the coéts of board level assembly by third party contract manufacturers; and

e scrapped and reserved material purchased for use in the production process.

We recognize direct cost of sales, wages, iaxes, benefits, and allocated overhead costs at the same time we
recognize revenue for products sold. We expense scrapped materials as incurred.

If we underestimate our requirements, we may have inadequate inventory, resulting in additional product costs for
expediting delivery of long lead time components. An increase in the cost of components could result in lower margins.
Additionally, these long lead times have in the past, and may in the future, cause us to purchase larger quantities of
some parts, increasing our investment in inventory and the risk of the parts’ obsolescence. Any subsequent write-off of
inventory could result in lower margins. See “Risk Factors Affecting Future Operating Results—Dependence on Sole
and Single Source Suppliers”.

Operating Costs

We classify' our operating expenses into three general operational categories: research and development, selling
and marketing, and general and administrative. Our operating expenses include stock-based compensation expense
and amortization of certain intangible assets. We classify charges to the research and development, selling and
marketing, and general and administrative expense categories based on the nature of these expenditures. Although
each of these three categories includes expenses that are unique to the category type, each category alse includes
commonly recurring expenditures that typically relate to all of these categories, such as salaries, amortization of stock-
based compensétion, employee benefits, travel and entertainment costs, communications costs, rent and facilities
costs, and third ‘party professional service fees. The selling and marketing category of operating expenses also includes
expenditures spécific to the selling and marketing group, such as commissions, public relations and advertising, trade
shows, and marketing materials. The research and development category of operating expenses includes expenditures
specific to the research and development group, such as design and prototyping costs. The general and administrative
category of operéting expenses includes expenditures specific to the general and administrative group, such as legal
and professional:fees and amortization of identifiable intangible assets.

We allocateithé total cost of overhead and facilities to each of the functional areas that use overhead and facilities
based upon the:square footage of facilities used. or the headcount in each of these areas. These allocated charges
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include facility rent, utilities, communications charges, and depreciation expenses for our building, equipment, and
office furniture. :

In 2003 and 2002, we recorded amortization of deferred stock-based compensation expense of $1.8 million and
$1.9 million, respectively, related to the grant of pre-iPO options t0 purchase our common stock at exercise prices
subsequently deemed to be below fair market value. Total compensation expense related o these options, which were
granted in 1999 and the first quarter of 2000, is amortized on a straight-line basis, over the respective four-year vesting
periods of the options, to the departments of the employees who received these below-market option grants. The 1399
options were fully amortized by the end of 2003. During 2003 and 2002, we allocated amortization of deferred stock-
based compensation expense of $0.3 million to cost of sales, $0.7 million to research and development expense, $0.5
million and $0.6 million, respectively, to selling and marketing expense, and $0.4 million and $0.3 million, respectively,
to general and administrative expense. At December 31, 2003, $0.3 million of deferred stock-based compensation
expense remained to be amortized and will be amortized during 2004.

Also, during 2003 and 2002, we charged $3.3 million to general and administrative expense for amortization of
intangible assets obtained in business acquisitions.

Acquisitions and Consolidation of Wireless Operations

On January 8, 2001, we acquired Avantron Technologies, Inc. (“Avantron”), a Canadian company that specializes in
the design and manufacture of cable broadband spectrum analyzers and performance monitoring systems, for $11.9
million in cash, acquisition costs, and short-term notes payable. We accounted for this acquisition using the purchase
method of accounting, and, accordingly, recorded goodwill and other intangible assets of $10.4 million, to be amortized
on a straight-line basis over their original estimated useful lives of five years. At December 31, 2001, we had $5.2 million
in unamortized goodwill remaining from the Avantron acquisition. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, we ceased
amortizing this goodwill as of January 1, 2002. We review goodwill for impairment annually as required by SFAS No. 142.

On February 28, 2002, we acquired the Calan Cable TV test business from Agilent Technologies for $7.2 miilion in
cash and acquisition costs. We recorded acquired identifiable intangible assets of $3.5 million, to be amortized on a
straight-line basis over their original estimated useful lives of two-and-a-half to five years, and goodwill of $2.6 million,
which we review for impairment annually.

On June 19, 2002, we acquired the ADSL Tester business from Integrated Telecom Express, Inc. (“1TeX”) for
$100,000 in cash. We recorded goodwill of $68,000, which we review for impairment annually.

On September 4, 2002, we acquired Luciol Instruments SA (“Luciol”), a2 Swiss corporation specializing in fiber
optic measurement and instrumentation, for $1.2 million in cash and acquisition costs. We recorded acquired
intangible assets of $0.1 million, to be amortized on a straight-line basis over their original estimated useful lives of five
years, and goodwill of $1.3 million, which we review for impairment annually. Concurrent with this acquisition and as
amended in February 2004, we entered into non-compete agreements with certain former owners of Luciol that will
result in payments to the former owners totaling approximately $116,000 over four years, provided that they perform as
stipulated under the agreements. We are amortizing the corresponding non-compete assets on a straight-line basis over
their four-year estimated useful lives. We also entered into, and amended in February 2004, employment agreements
with these same former owners that will result in bonus payments to the former owners totaling approximately $349,000
over four years, in addition to their regular salaries and subject to certain conditions, primarily related to their continued
employment by us.

On February 28, 2003, we acquired substantially all of the assets of GIE GmbH (“GIE”), a German corporation
located in Mannheim and specializing in wireless and RF measurement instrumentation, for $0.6 million in cash and
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acquisition costs. We recorded acquired intangible assets of $83,000, of which $37,000 was assigned to in-process
research and development assets that were written off at the date of the acquisition. The remaining $52,000 of acquired
intangible assets is developed technology. We did not record any goodwill on this acquisition. Concurrent with this
acquisition, we entered into a non-compete agreement with certain former owners of GIE obligating us to make
payments to the former owners totaling approximately $100,000 over four years, provided that they perform as
stipulated under the agreements. We are amortizing the corresponding non-compete assets on a straight-line basis over
their four-year estimated useful lives. We also entered into employment agreements with these same former owners
obligating us to make bonus payments to the former owners totaling approximately $200,000 over four years, in
addition to their regular salaries and subject to certain conditions, primarily related to their continued employment by
us. As of August 2003, two of the three former owners of GIE were no longer employed by us. Based on this fact and
other actions by the former owners that we believe breech the terms of their agreements with us, we might not be
required to pay these former owners the bonus or non-compete payments specified under the acquisition-related
agreements. As our wireless product development process proceeded, we determined that we would not make
significant use in our wireless product designs of the developed technology that we capitalized at the time of the GIE
acquisition, so we wrote off the remaining unamortized balance of $48,000 during the fourth quarter of 2003.

During the three month period ended September 30, 2003, we initiated a plan to move our wireless product
research and development operations from Mannheim, Germany to our existing facility in Santa Rosa, California, and
we modified this plan during March 2004 to move these operations to our corporate headguarters in San Jose,
California. We expect that this consolidation will alfow us to make the best use of our engineering talent and to closely
control the wireless product development operations. We expect that the wireless operations in San Jose will be
conducted by existing staff from the San Jose and Santa Rosa facilities, augmented by additional hires, as needed.
Except for the research and development activities of one employee, which we expect will be completed in March 2004,
all operating activities in our Mannheim location had ceased by December 31, 2003. As a result of closing the
Mannheim office, we wrote off the book value of the remaining fixed assets and recorded a provision for the remaining
future payments under the facility lease, both of which we included as charges against other income, net on our
consolidated statement of operations. We have not identified any additional material future costs to be incurred as a
result of closing the Mannheim facility. Additional costs, including lease termination costs and employee related costs,
may become apparent during 2004 as a result of negotiating the termination of the Mannheim office lease and if
terminated empioyees claim and are allowed additional, unanticipated severance benefits, but we do not expect that
any such additional costs would be material to cur financial position or results of operations.

We believe that acquisitions and joint ventures may be an important part of our growth and competitive strategy.
See "Risk Factors Affecting Future Operating Results—Acquisitions.”

Subsequent Events

On January:9, 2004, we, with our subsidiary Luciol and a former owner of Luciol, settled an intellectual property
dispute over certain technology for testing fiber optic communication networks. In the settlement, we agreed to pay
$500,000 to certain other parties in order to settle all their claims to the intellectual property. Under the terms of our
acquisition of Luciol, we are entitled to indemnification of this amount from the three former owners of Luciol, who are
all now our employees. During January 2004, we agreed with these former owners to accept $300,000 as payment in
full of the reimbursement to which we are entitled. In February 2004, we amended the terms of the employment
agreements with these former owners of Luciol to reduce the bonus and non-compete payments to be paid to them by
approximately $300,000 as the means to provide the reimbursement due to us. The remaining $200,000 of the
settlement amount is covered by a provision for litigation in this same amount that was established by us at the time of
the Luciol acquisition.

On January 28, 2004, our Board of Directors declared a $2.5 million dividend, to be paid on February 20, 2004 to
stockholders of record as of February 10, 2004,
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The foltowing table sets forth certain operating data as a percentage of net sales for the periods indicated:

Percentage of Net Sales
Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Net SaIES . . 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Cost of SaleS . .. . e e 35.1 34.2 332
Gross profit ... 64.9 65.8 66.8
Operating expenses:
Research and development . ... ... ... . .. . . . . 29.3 30.8 225
Sellingand marketing . ... ... ... . . . e 30.9 30.9 25.7
General and administrative .......... .. ... . 17.8 211 17.3
Total operating expenses . .. ... . . 780 82.8 65.5
Income (loss) from operations . ... ... . i (13.1) (17.0) 1.3
Otherincome, net . ... . 16 1.7 32
Income (l0ss) before incometaxes .. ... .. i (11.5) (15.3) 45
Income tax expense (benefit) . ... ... . . (4.5) 6.1 0.9
Netincome (10SS) .. ... .. o 7.0%  (8.2)% 3.6%

COMPARISON OF YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2003 AND 2002

Net Sales. Net sales increased 1%, to $54.9 miliion in 2003 from $54.3 million in 2002. During 2003, sales of
our wireline access products increased by $1.4 million or 6%, sales of our fiber optics products increased by $2.2
million or 20%, and sales of our signaling products increased by $0.5 million or 19% over sales in the prior year. These
sales increases were generally due to increased demand for our products resulting from our continuing penetration of
diverse geographic markets with product lines that we continue to enhance in terms of breadth, functionality, and
performance. In particular, the introduction of a number of new modules for our MTT and STT platforms drove sales in
our wirefine and fiber optics product lines. Our overall sales increase was fimited by a $3.5 million or 19% decrease in
sales of our cable broadband products. This decrease resulted primarily from a decline in sales to our North American
cable broadband customers, who restricted capital expenditures during 2003 after a period of significant expansion of
their networks through 2002, and increasing competition in the hand-held installation and field testing part of the
business.

During 2003, sales decreased $3.9 million or 10% in North America, increased $1.7 million or 27% in Europe/
Africa/Middle East, and increased $2.8 million or 35% in Asia/Pacific compared to 2002. Sales were essentially
unchanged in Latin America. The decrease in North American sales is primarily the result of decreased sales of cable
broadband products. Our growth in Asia reflects the results of our ongoing development of distribution channels in
these regions, and our growth in Europe is a rebound from a particularly weak year 2002. International sales, including
North American sales in Canada, increased to $21.3 million, or 39% of net sales, in 2003, from $16.1 million, or 30%
of net sales, in 2002.

Cost of Sales. Cost of sales increased 4%, to $19.3 million in 2003 from $18.6 million in 2002. This increase is
primarily due to the shift in sales from North America to the international market, where our margins are lower, Cost of
sales represented 35% and 34% of net sales in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Although cost of sales was aimost the
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same as a percentage of sales in 2003 and 2002, this percentage is susceptible to change from variations in our
product mix, changes in the proportion of our sales going to international customers, and pricing pressures.

Researcti and Development. Research and development expenses decreased 4%, to $16.1 million in 2003 from
$16.7 million in 2002. This decrease is primarily due to reduced parts and prototype and design service costs.
Research and. development expenses represented 29% of net sales in 2003 and 31% of net sales in 2002. Research
and development expenses tend to fluctuate from period to pericd, depending on requirements at the various stages of
our product development cycles. Through our research and development actlivities, we are attempting to balance two
conflicting strategic priorities. The first is to tightly control costs in response to sales volume that has significantly
decreased over the last three years. The second is to continue to develop products that address customer needs in a
rapidly changihg and very competitive market. In any given time period, research and deveiopment expenses may
increase in absolute dollars and/or as a percentage of sales as we continue to invest in product development and
expand our product lines.

Selling and marketing. Selling and marketing expenses increased 1%, to $17.0 million in 2003 from $16.8
miltion in 2002. Selling and marketing expenses represented 31% of net sales in 2003 and 2002. During 2002 and
2003, we reached a level of selling and marketing effort that allowed us to actively promote our products to potential
customers, but}that simultaneously recognized the cost constraints that we face during a period of economic difficulty in
the telecommunications industry. However, in the future, selling and marketing expense may increase in absolute
doflars and/or as a percentage of sales as we continue to develop our selling and marketing capabilities. In addition, the
commission expenses included in selling and marketing can fluctuate both with changes in sales volume and with
changes in the thannels through which the sales flow. We use different distribution methods to supply our products to
different geographical regions and different customers, and the commission rates we incur can vary among these
channels.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased 14%, to $9.8 million in 2003 from
$11.4 million in'2002. The main reason for this decrease was a reduction in bad debt expenses related to uncollectible
accounts receivable. Since 2001, we have experienced a trend of decreasing uncollectible accounts receivable. We
believe that the keason far this trend is that many of our customers with questionable financial resources have gone out
of business or have reduced the scope of their operations as a result of the telecommunications downturn and that
those customers that continue to buy from us are those with the most financial resources to pay for their purchases.
General and adrhinistrative expenses represented 18% of net sales in 2003 and 21% of net sales in 2002. We try to
carefully control our general and administrative expenses. However, general and administrative expenses may increase
in absolute dollars if we experience growth in our business, expand our infrastructure, or pursue additional acquisitions.
General and administrative expenses could increase as a percentage of sales if we experience increased costs related to
our collection of}receivables, if unforeseen legal matters arise, and if regulatory or public company compliance costs,
including costs related to complying with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and its associated regulations, increase.

Other Income, Net. Other income, net primarily represents interest earned on cash and investment balances and
gains and losses on assets, liabilities, and transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Other income, net remained
unchanged at $0:9 million in 2003 and 2002.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit). Income tax expense (benefit) consists primarily of federal and state income taxes.
We recorded an income tax benefit associated with our operating losses of $2.5 million in 2003 and $3.3 million in
2002. Our effective income tax rates were 39% in 2003 and 40% in 2002.

COMPARISON OF YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002 AND 2001

Net Sales. Net sales decreased 31%, to $54.3 million in 2002 from $79.1 million in 2001. During 2002, sales of
our wireline access products decreased by $25.7 million or 53%, sales of our fiber optics products decreased by $4.0
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million or 26%, and sales of our signaling products decreased by $1.8 million or 42% from sales in the prior year,
These sales decreases were generally due to reductions in capital spending by our customers in the
telecommunications industry. These sales decreases were partially offset by a $6.7 million or 59% increase in sales of
our cable broadband products. Of the increase in cable broadband product sales, $3.6 million was attributable to the
Calan acquisition. The remaining $3.1 million increase was from our existing product lines, primarily the CM1000, and
the increasing acceptance of these products within the cable broadband industry.

During 2002, sales decreased $13.6 million or 26% in North America, $5.0 million or 45% in Europe/Africa/Middle
East, $3.7 million or 32% in Asia/Pacific, and $2.4 million or 65% in Latin America compared to 2001. The decrease in
North American sales during 2002 was due to decreased sales of our wireline access, fiber optics, and signaling
products. These decreases were partially offset by an increase in the sales of our cable broadband products. Of the
growth in our North American cable broadband product sales, 45% of the increase in 2002 over 2001 relates to
products from the Calan business acquired during the first quarter of 2002. The decreases in our North American sales
were primarily the result of decreased capital spending by our telecommunications customers. In addition, beginning
largely in 2002, some DSL providers encouraged customer self-installation and reported that up to 90% of their
customers perform self-instaliation successfully. The self-instaliation procedure reduces the need for technicians to test
for DSL service, reducing the demand for our DSL wireline access products; under the self-installation model, our
customers use our equipment primarily for troubleshocting and not for routine installations.

International sales, including North American sales in Canada, decreased to $16.1 miilion, or 30% of net sales, in
2002, from $29.7 million, or 38% of net sales, in 2001. The decrease in international sales is primarily due to
decreased sales of our wireline access product lines and our fiber optics products.

Cost of Sales.  Cost of sales decreased 29%, to $18.6 million in 2002 from $26.2 million in 2001. This decrease is
primarily due to the decrease in net sales volumes. Cost of sales represented 34% and 33% of net sales in 2002 and
2001, respectively.

Research and Devefopment.  Research and development expenses decreased 6%, to $16.7 million in 2002 from
$17.8 million in 2001. This decrease is primarily due to decreased payroll dedicated to research and development
activities. Research and development expenses represented 31% of net sales in 2002 and 23% of net sales in 2001.
The increase as a percentage of net sales is primarily due to product sales decreasing more rapidly than research and
development expenditures, as we continued to invest in product development and expansion of our product lines.

Selling and marketing. Selling and marketing expenses decreased 17%, to $16.8 million in 2002 from $20.3
million in 2001. This decrease is primarily due to reductions in advertising and printing expenses, headcount reductions
among selling and marketing personnel, and reduced commission expenses. Commission expenses decreased
primarily due to the decrease in our sales, particularly North American sales, on which we make the preponderance of
our commission payments. Selling and marketing expenses represented 31% of net sales in 2002 and 26% of net sales
in 2001. The increase as a percentage of net sales in 2002 is primarily due to product sales decreasing more rapidly
than selling and marketing expenditures and our efforts to continue to develop markets for and sell our products.

General and Administrative. General and administrative expenses decreased 17%, to $11.4 million in 2002 from
$13.7 million in 2001. This decrease is primarily due to a $1.8 million decrease in amortization of purchased intangible
assets resulting from the cessation of amortization of goodwill related to acquisitions beginning on January 1, 2002. The
remaining $0.5 million of the decrease is primarily due to cost reduction measures. General and administrative
expenses represented 21% of net sales in 2002 and 17% of net sales in 2001.
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Other Income, Net. Other income, net decreased to $0.9 million in 2002 from $2.5 million in 2001. This
decrease resulted primarily from a decrease in interest income as our cash, cash equivalents, and investments in
marketable securities balances declined and interest rates fell.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit). We recorded an income tax benefit of $3.3 million in 2002 and income tax
expense of $0.7 million in 2001. Our effective income tax rates were 40% in 2002 and 20% in 2001. Our effective tax
rate was lower during 2001 than 2002 because during 2001 our research and development tax credit, foreign sales
corporation (F SC) tax benefit, and tax exempt interest were larger in proportion o our statutory taxes than they were
during 2002.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Cash Requirements and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, we had working capital of $54.7 million and $52.8 million, respectively, and
cash and cash equivalents of $39.9 million and $36.4 million, respectively. At December 31, 2002, we also had $1.0
million in invesiments in marketable securities that were classified as current assets on our balance sheet. These
investments have matured, and as explained in the notes to our December 31, 2003 consolidated financial statements,
our $2.1 millioniinvestment in marketzble securities at December 31, 2003 consisted entirely of equity securities of Top
Union Electronics Corp., a Taiwan R.0.C. Company. At December 31, 2002, these securities were reported at historical
cost and classified with other assets on our balance sheet. During the guarter ended June 30, 2003, these securities
became listed on the GreTai Securities Market, Taiwan's over-the-counter exchange. As a result, we reclassified them to
marketable securities and revalued them to their fair value, as required for available-for-sale securities. We do not
consider this to be a liquid investment, and accordingly classify it as a non-current asset.

We have generated positive cash flows from our operating activities every year since 1992. We believe that current
cash balances and future cash flows from operations will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for our
operations, complete needed business projects, achieve our plans and objectives, meet financial commitments, meet
working capital requirements, make capital expenditures, and fund other activities well beyond the next 12 months.
However, a large acquisition of complementary businesses, products, or technologies, or material joint ventures could
require us to obtain additional equity or debt financing. We cannot assure you that such additional financing would be
available on acceptable terms, if at all. However, no such activities are anticipated at this time and our present levels of
debt and other future commitments are small compared to our present cash balances, so we presently anticipate that
our most significant cash requirements during at least the next 12 months will be for our normal research and
development, seHing and marketing, and production activities. Furthermore, we are unaware of any known material
trends or uncertainties that may require us to make cash management decisions that will impair our short or long-term
operating capabilities.

Sources and Uses of Cash

In general, we have financed our operations and capital expenditures primarily using cash flows generated by our
operating activities. In addition, in July 2000 we received net proceeds of $51.6 million from an initial public offering of
our common stock. We have since expended these proceeds, mainly to acquire complementary businesses and to
construct our corporate headquarters in San Jose, California. We foresee relying on cash flows from our operating
activities and existing cash resources to fund our business activities during at (east the next 12 months, and we do not
expect to rely on any significant financing activities during that time.

Cash provided by operating activities was $5.8 million in 2003, $0.7 million in 2002, and $19.8 million in 2001.
Operating cash flows increased during 2003 compared to 2002 primarily due to changes in non-cash items affecting
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our net income year over year and changes in certain of our current assets and liabilities, including a lower employment
retention bonus payment to the vice president and general manager of our cable broadband operation and the
collection during 2003 of income taxes receivable. These items were partially offset by a reduction in deferred revenue.
Operating cash flows decreased during 2002 compared to 2001 primarily because of our net loss in 2002.
Furthermore, although we continued to have net reductions in inventory purchases during 2002, the amount of these
ne&t reductions was significantly less than during 2001, and our cash generated from collecting accounts receivable
decreased during 2002 compared to 2001. The factors decreasing operating cash flow during 2002 were partially offset
by a reduction in payments on our accounts payable and accrued expenses. In general, our ability to continue to
generate positive cash flows from operations will depend on our abijlity to generate and collect the cash from future
sales, while maintaining a cost structure lower than those sales amounts. Therefore, sales volume is by far the most
significant uncertainty in our ability to generate cash flow from operations. We believe that our business strategies will
allow us to generate future sales that, combined with our existing cash and cash equivalents, will be sufficient to fund
our business well beyond the next 12 months.

Cash used in investing activities was $1.0 million in 2003, $9.7 million in 2002, and $27.8 million in 2001. The
$8.7 million decrease in net cash used in investing activities during 2003 from 2002 is primarily due to a decrease in
business acquisition related expenditures and due to a non-recurring event, a loan made to our Chief Executive Officer
in 2002 and repaid in 2003. Offsetting these reductions was a decrease in proceeds from the sale of marketable
securities. The $18.1 million decrease in net cash used in investing activities during 2002 from 2001 is primarily due to
decreased amounts paid for business acquisitions and decreased capital expenditures. Capital expenditures during
2001 included $8.8 million for land and $5.6 million for construction of our facility in San Jose, California, and we also
reduced our expenditures on equipment and other capital assets during 2002. Offsetting those reductions in cash flows
used in investing activities was the loan made to our Chief Executive Officer in early 2002. As of December 31, 2003,
we had no plans for large capital expenditures outside the usual course of those needed for our ongoing production,
research and development, and selling and marketing activities.

Cash used in financing activities was $1.7 million in 2003 and $3.7 million in 2002. Cash provided by financing
activities was $0.6 million in 2001. The decrease in cash used in financing activities during 2003 from 2002 is primarily
due to the completion of a stock repurchase program during 2002. This decrease was partially offset by a $2.0 million
dividend paid to our stockholders during 2003, while no dividend was paid during 2002. in January 2004, our Board of
Directors announced plans to institute annual dividend payments, with the year 2004 dividend teing $2.5 million. This
dividend was paid to stockholders in February 2004. The increase in net cash used in financing activities during 2002
from 2001 is primarily due to increased repurchases of our common stock and a reduction in proceeds from common
stock issued under our Employee Stock Purchase Plan. During 2002, we completed the repurchases of our stock under
a plan approved by the Board of Directors in 2001. Under this plan, a total of 1.7 million shares have been repurchased
since 2001 for total cash expended of $5.1 million.

Our outstanding debt at December 31, 2003 consisted primarily of a $1.0 million loan from the ltalian government
for research and development use that is payable over a period of eight years through semi-annual payments starting in
the second half of 2003 and ending in 2011 and nine notes payable related to acquisitions totaling $0.4 million that are
being paid in quarterly installments ending in 2006. We have not used off-balance sheet financing arrangements,
issued or purchased derivative instruments linked to our stock, or used our stock as a form of liquidity. We do not
beiieve that there are any known or reasonably likely changes in credit ratings or ratings outiook or an inability to
achieve such changes which would have any significant impact on our operations. We are not subject to any debt
covenants that we believe might have a material impact on our business.

Debt Instruments, Guarantees, and Related Covenants

We have low levels of debt, and our operating, financing, and investing activities are not subject to any significant
constraints related to outstanding debt, guarantees, or other contingent obligations. We are not, and during at least the
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next 12 months are not reasonably likely to be, in breach of debt covenants. We are not subject to any significant debt
covenants that may limit our ability to borrow additional funds or issue equity securities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires us to make estimates, assumptions, and judgments that affect the amounts reported in our
consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable. Although these estimates are based on our present best
knowledge of the future impact on the Company of current events and actions, actual results may differ from these
estimates, assumptions, and judgments.

We considér “critical” those accounting policies that require our most subjective or complex judgments, which
often result from a need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain, and that are among
the most important of our accounting policies to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations. These
critical accounting policies are the determination of our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable, valuation of excess
and obsolete inventory, valuation of goodwill and other intangible assets, accounting for the liability for product
warranties, deferred income tax assets and liabilities, and revenue recognition.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivable

We determine our allowance for doubtful accounts receivable by making our best estimate considering our
historical accounts receivable collection experience and the information that we have about the current status of our
accounts receivable balances. If future conditions cause our collection experience to change or if we later obtain
different information about the status of any or all of our accounts receivable, additional allowances for doubtful
accounts receivable may be required. We charge provisions for doubtful accounts receivable to general and
administrative expenses on our statement of operations.

Valuation of Excess and Obsolete Inventory

We determifie the valuation of excess and obsolete inventory by making our best estimate considering the current
quantities of inventory on hand and our forecast of the need for this inventory to support future sales of our products.
We often have limited information on which to base our forecasts, and if future sales differ from these forecasts, the
valuation of excess and obsolete inventory may change. We charge provisions for excess and obsolete inventory to cost
of sales on our statement of operations.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We evaluate the valuation of goodwill in the manner prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS™) No. 14?, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. As required by SFAS No. 142, we test goodwill for impairment
annually, during iour fourth fiscal quarter. We would also test goodwill for impairment if certain events or changes in
circumstances stipulated by SFAS No. 142 were to occur. SFAS No. 142 prescribes a two-step process for the
impairment testing of goodwill. The first screens for impairment by comparing the fair value of our reporting unit, which
we consider to be the market capitalization of our entire telecommunications testing equipment business, to its carrying
value. If the carrying value were to exceed the fair value, the second phase of the process would occur. In the second
phase, we would recognize an impairment for the excess of the carrying value, if any, of our goodwill over its implied fair
value. The implied fair value of our goodwill is the excess of our reporting unit's total fair value over the combined net
fair values of its individual assets and liabilities. Based on the annual test for impairment performed during our fourth
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fiscal quarter, goodwill was determined not to be impaired, and no subsequent indicators of impairment have been
noted.

We evaluate the valuation of intangible assets other than goodwill in the manner prescribed by SFAS No. 144,
Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. As required by that standard, we monitor events and
changes in circumstances that could indicate that the carrying amount of an intangible asset may not be recoverable.
These events and circumstances include a significant change in how we use the asset, significant changes in legal
factors or the business climate that could affect the asset's value, and current period operating or cash flow losses
combined with a history of such losses or a forecast of continuing losses associated with the use of the asset. If such an
event or change in circumstances were to occur, we would assess the recoverability of the intangible asset by
determining whether its carrying value would be recovered through undiscounted expected future cash flows. If the
carrying value of the asset were to exceed the undiscounted expected future cash flows, we would recognize an
impairment for the excess of the carrying value over the asset's fair value.

Product Warranties

We offer a three-year warranty covering parts and labor on our wireline access products and fiber optic products
sold in the United States, and generally offer a one-year warranty covering parts and fabor for our products sold in all
other countries, with the option to purchase a two-year extended warranty. Our cable broadband and signaling products
are covered by a one-year warranty. We are also subject to laws and regulations in the various countries in which we sell
regarding vendor obligations to ensure product performance. At the time we recognize revenue from a product's sale,
we determine the reserve for the future cost of meeting our obligations under the stancard warranties and product
performance laws and regulations by considering our historical experience with the costs of meeting such obligations. If
the future costs of meeting these obligations differ from our historical experience, additional reserves for warranty
obligations may be required. We charge provisions for future warranty costs to cost of sales on our statement of
operations.

Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and for the future tax
consequences attributable to operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. In assessing the recoverability of deferred tax -
assets, we consider whether it is maore likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will be realized.
The ultimate realization of certain deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during
the periods in which the related temporary differences become deductible. If we obtain information that causes our
forecast of future taxable income to change or if taxable income differs from our forecast, we may have to revise the
carrying value of our deferred tax assets, which would affect our net income in the period in which the change occurs.
The ultimate realization of certain other deferred tax assets is dependent on our ability to carry forward or back
operating losses and tax credits. If changes in the tax laws occur that inhibit our ability to carry forward or back
operating losses or tax credits, we will recognize the effect on our deferred tax assets in the results of operations of the
period that includes the enactment date of the change. Furthermore, we measure our deferred tax assets and liabilities
using the enacted tax laws expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which temporary differences are
expected to be recovered or settled. If tax laws change, we will recognize the effect on our deferred tax assets and
liabilities in the results of operations of the period that includes the enactment date of the change.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from a customer order when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is reasonably assured.
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For product sales, we consider delivery to have occurred when title and risk of loss have been transferred to the
customer, which is usually at the time that the product has been picked up by a common carrier. For services, we
consider delivery to have occurred once the service has been provided. We use objective evidence of fair value 1o
allocate revenue to elements in multiple element arrangements and recognize revenue when the criteria for revenue
recognition have been met for each element. in the absence of objective evidence of fair value of a delivered element,
we allocate revenue to the fair value of the undelivered elements and the residual revenue to the delivered elements.
The price charged when an element is sold separately generally determines fair value.

When the arrangement with the customer includes future obligations or obtaining customer acceptance, we
recognize revenue when those obligations have been met or customer acceptance has been received. We defer revenue
from services and support provided under our warranty programs and recognizes it on a straight-line basis over the
warranty period. Deferred revenue represents amounts received from customers in advance of services and support to
be provided and amounts received prior to customer acceptance. Provisions are recorded at the time of sale for
estimated product returns, standard warranty obligations, and customer support.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

As of December 31, 2003, we did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely
to have a material effect on our current or future financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations,
liquidity, or capital resources.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS

The following table summarizes; as of December 31, 2003, the timing of future cash payments due under certain
contractual obligations (in thousands):

Payments Due In

Less More
than 1-3 4-5 than
Total 1 year years years 5 years
Borrowings and notes payable ................. $1477 $ 382 $ 593 $260 3242
Capital lease obligations .. .................... — — — — —
Operating lease obligations . .. .............. ... 01,548 901 647 — —
Purchase obligations ............... ... ...... — — — — —
Total ... $3,025 $1,283 $1,240 $260 $242

RISK FACTORS AFFECTING FUTURE OPERATING RESULTS

Quarterly Fluctuafions—-Because our quarterly operating results have fluctuated significantly in the past and are likely to
fluctuate significantly in the future, our stock price may be volatile.

In the past, We have experienced significant fluctuations in our quarterly resuits due to a number of factors. in the
future, our quarterly operating results may fluctuate significantly and may be difficult to predict given the nature of our
business. Many factors could cause our operating results to fluctuate from quarter to quarter, including the following:

e the size'and timing of orders from our customers, which may be exacerbated by the increased length and
unpredictability of our customers’ buying patterns, and limitations on our ability to ship these orders on a
timely basis;

* the degree to which our customers have allocated and spent their yearly budgets;
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¢ the uneven pace of technological innovation, the development of products responding to these technological
innovations by us and our competitors, and customer acceptance of these products and innovations;

e the varied degree of price, product, and technology competition, and our customers’ and competitors’
responses to these changes;

¢ the relative percentages of our products sold domestically and internationally;
¢ the mix of the products we sell and the varied margins associated with these products;
¢ the timing of our customers’ budget processes; and

e economic downturns reducing demand for telecommunication and cable equipment and services.

The factors listed above may affect our business and stock price in several ways. Given our high fixed costs from
overhead, research and development, and advertising and marketing, and other activities necessary to run our
business, if our net sales are below our expectations in any quarter, we may not be able to adjust spending accordingly.
For example, during 2002 our net sales declined 31% from 2001, but our operating expenses only declined 13%,
mainly because of the relatively high fixed costs in our operations. Our stock price may decline and may be volatile if
our future sales and operating costs continue to reflect historical volatility patterns. Furthermore, the above factors,
taken together may make it more difficult for us to issue additional equity in the future or raise debt financing to fund
future acquisitions and accelerate growth.

Generally Declining Sales—0ur sales have generally decreased over the last three years and we are experiencing
increased difficulty predicting future operating results,

Although, due to unfavorable economic and market conditions over the past three years, our sales ovér the last
three-year period have generally declined or been flat, we have shown sequential quarter and year-over-year increases
in the last two quarters of 2003. Nonetheless, we believe that it may be too early to predict an upward trend in sales. As
a result, we are unable to predict future sales accurately, and we are currently unable to provide long-term guidance for
future financial performance. The conditions contributing to this difficulty include the following:

e uncertainty regarding the capital spending plans of the major telecommunications and cable carriers upon
whom we depend for sales;

¢ the telecommunications and cable carriers’ current limited access to capital required for expansion;
e more limited near-term sales visibility; and

o general market and economic uncertainty.

Based on these and other factors, many of our major customers have reduced, modified, cancelled, or
rescheduled orders for our products and have expressed uncertainty as to their future requirements.

Economic Downturn—Our operating results and financial condition could continue to be harmed if the telecommunications
and cable broadband industries remain over supplied. ’

The current economic downturn has resulted in reduced purchasing and capital spending in the
telecommunications and cable broadband industries, which have been in a downward cycle characterized by
diminished product demand, excess manufacturing capacity, and the increasing erosion of average selling prices. The
downturn has adversely affected the businesses and cash flows of many of our customers and has even caused some
of them to file for bankruptcy. We are uncertain how long the current downturn will last. Continuation of the downturn or
any further decline in our customers’ markets or in general economic conditions would likely result in a further
reduction in demand for our products and services and alsc would further limit our customers' ability to pay for the
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products that they buy from us. All of these circumstances could harm our consolidated financial position, results of
operations, cash flows, and stock price and could hinder our ability to reach our goals of restaring long-term profitability
and growth,

Long-term Impact of Cost Controls—The actions we have taken and may take in response to the recent slowdown in
demand for our products and services could have long-term adverse effects on our business.

Over the past three years, our business generally has experienced lower revenues due to decreased or cancelled
customer orders. To scale back our operations and to reduce our expenses in response to this decreased demand for
our products and services and lower revenue, we have reduced portions of our workforce, restricted hiring, reduced
some employees’ salaries, restricted pay increases, and reduced discretionary spending.

There are several risks inherent in our efforts to transition to a reduced cost structure. These include the risk that
we will not be able to reduce expenditures quickly enough and sustain them at a level necessary to restore profitability,
and that we méy have to undertake further restructuring initiatives that would entail additional charges. In addition,
there is the riskithat cost-cutting initiatives will impair our future ability to develop and market products effectively, o
manage and control our business, and to remain competitive. Each of the above measures could have long-term effects
on our business.by reducing our pool of technical talent, decreasing or slowing improvements in our products, making it
more difficult for us to respond to customers, limiting our ability to increase production guickly if and when the demand
for our products: increases, and limiting our ability to hire and retain key personnel. These circumstances could cause
our earnings to be lower than they otherwise might be.

Dependence on Wireline Access Products—A significant portion of our sales have been from our wireline access
products, which makes our future sales and overail business vulnerable to product obsolescence and technological
change.

Sales of our' DSL and other wireline access products represented approximately 44% of our net sales during 2003
and 42% during 2002. Currently, our DSL products are primarily used by a limited number of incumbent local
exchange carriers, including the regional Bell operating companies, and competitive local exchange carriers who offer
DSL services. These parties, and other Internet service providers and users, are continuously evaluating alternative
high-speed data access technologies, including cable modems, fiber optics, wireless technology, and satellite
technologies, and may at any time adopt these competing technologies. These competing technologies may ultimately
prove to be supefior to DSL services and reduce or eliminate the demand for our DSL products.

Manufacturing Capacity—If demand for our products does not match our manufacturing capacity, our earnings may suffer.

Because we cannot immediately adapt our production capacity and related cost structures to rapidly changing
market conditions, when demand does not meet our expectations, our manufacturing capacity exceeds our production
requirements, and profitability may decline. Conversely, if during a market upturn we cannot increase our
manufacturing capacity to meet product demand, we will not be able to fulfill orders in a timely manner, which in turn
may have a negafive effect on our earnings and overall business.

Risks of the Telecommunications Industry—We face several risks related to the telecommunications industry, including
the possible effects of its unpredictable growth or decline, the possible effects of consolidation among our principal
customers, and the risk that deregulation will slow.

After the passage of the Telecommunications Act of 1996, the telecommunications industry experienced rapid
growth. The grth led to great innovations in technology, intense competition, short product life cycles, and, to some
extent, regulatory uncertainty inside and outside the United States. However, the course of the development of the
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telecommunications industry is difficult to predict. Companies operating in this industry have a difficuit time forecasting
future trends and developments and forecasting customer acceptance of competing technologies. One possible effect of
this uncertainty is that there is, and may continue to be, a delay or a reduction in these companies’ investment in their
business and purchase of related equipment, such as our products, and a reduction in their and our access to capital.
In addition, deregulation may result in a delay or a reduction in the procurement cycle because of the general
uncertainty involved with the {ransition period of businesses.

The growth that occurred after the passage of the Telecommunications Act of 19396 has slowed dramatically, and it
is unknown whether or when it will resume. This slowdown has resuited in reduced investment in the
telecommunications industry in general and delayed purchase orders for service verification equipment such as our
products in particular. It is not possible to predict whether this slowdown will be temporary or sustained.

In addition, the telecommunications industry has been experiencing consolidation among its primary participants,
such as incumbent local exchange carriers and competitive local exchange carriers, several of whom are our primary
customers. For example, in recent years, GTE and Bell Atlantic, both of which were customers of ours, merged to create
Verizon Communications fnc. Continued consolidation may cause delay or canceliation of orders for our products. The
consolidation of our customers will likely provide them with greater negotiating leverage with us and may lead them to
pressure us to lower the prices of our products.

Cable Broadband Industry Health—Many of the major companies in the cable broadband industry have debt and
profitability problems, which are expected to negatively impact our cahle equipment sales.

The cable broadband industry has taken on significant debt as companies aggressively consolidated and built up
impressive new digital networks to allow them to provide better picture quality, internet access, and voice telephony.
Profits have declined during the last few years within the industry, however. As a result, many cable companies may
reduce their capital expenditures and/or hiring, both of which could adversely impact our cable business more than we
now expect. During 2003, we saw evidence of such a slowdown, as our sales of cable broadband products decreased
19% or $3.5 million from 2002 levels.

Customer Concentration—A limited number of customers account for a high percentage of our net sales, and any adverse
factor affecting these customers or our relationship with these customers could cause our net sales to decrease.

Our customer base is concentrated, and a relatively small number of companies have accounted for a large
percentage of our net sales. Net sales from our top five customers represented approximately 36% of total net sales in
2003 and 31% in 2002. In general, our customers are not subject to long-term supply contracts with us and are not
obligated to purchase a specific amount of products from us or to provide us with binding forecasts of purchases for any
period.

The loss of a major customer or the reduction, delay, or cancellation of orders from one or more of our significant
customers could cause our net sales and, therefore, profits to decline. in addition, many of our customers are able to
exert substantial negotiating leverage over us. As a result, they may cause us to lower our prices to them, and they may
successfully negatiate other terms and provisions that may negatively affect our business and profits.

Goodwill Valuation—0ur financial results could be materially and adversely affected if it is determined that the book value
of goadwill is higher than fair value.

Our balance sheet at December 31, 2003 includes an amount designated as “goodwill” that represents
approximately 11% of assets and 12% of stockholders’ equity. Goodwill arises when an acguirer pays more for a
business than the fair value of the acquired tangible and separately measurable intangible net assets. Under accounting
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pronouncemedt SFAS No. 142, Gooadwill and Other Intangible Assets, beginning in January 2002, the amortization of
goodwill has been replaced with an “impairment test,” which requires that we compare the fair value of goodwill to its
book value at least annually, and more frequently if circumstances indicate a possible impairment.

Our impairment test is based on a market capitalization analysis. Accordingly, if our market capitalization were to
diminish significantly, the book value of goodwill could be higher than the fair value, and we would need to record a
non-cash impairment charge for the difference, which could materially and adversely affect our net income or loss.

Product Development—lf we are unable to develop new products successfully and enhance our existing products, our
future success may be threatened.

The market for our products is characterized by rapid technological advances, changes in customer requirements
and preferences, evolving industry and customer-specific protocol standards, and frequent new product enhancements
and introductions, Our existing products and our products currently under development could be rendered obsolete by
the introduction of products involving competing technologies, by the evolution of alternative technologies or new
industry protocal standards, or by rival products of cur competitors. These market conditions are more complex and
challenging because of the high degree ta which the telecommunications industry is fragmented.

We believe' our future success will depend, in part, upon our ability, on a timely and cost-effective basis, to
continue to do the following:

e anticipate and respond to varied and rapidly changing customer preferences and requirements, a process
made more challenging by our customers’ buying patterns;

e anticipate and develop new products and solutions for networks based on emerging technologies, such as the
asynchronous transfer mode protocol that packs digital information into cells to be routed across a network,
and internet telephony, which comprises voice, video, image, and data across the Internet, that are likely to be
characterized by continuing technological developments, evolving industry standards, and changing customer
requirements;

* invest in research and development to enhance our existing products and to introduce new verification and
diagnostic products for the telecommunications, internet, cable network, and other markets; and

e support our products by investing in effective advertising, marketing, and customer support.

We cannot ensure that we will accomplish these objectives, and our failure to do so could have a material adverse
impact on our market share, business, and financial results.

Furthermore; our expenditures devoted to research and development may be considered high for our level of sales.
If these efforts do not result in the deve\opmént of products that generate strong sales for us or if we do not continue 1o
reduce these expénditures, our profit levels will not return to their desired levels. If we reduce this spending, we may not
be able to develop needed new products, which could negatively impact our sources of new revenues.

Sales Implementa?ian Cycles—The length and unpredictability of the sales and implementation cycles for our products
makes it difficult to forecast revenues.

Sales of our products often entail an extended decision-making process on the part of prospective customers. We
frequently experience delays following initial contact with a prospective customer and expend substantial funds and
management effort pursuing these sales. Our ability to forecast the timing and amount of specific sales is therefore
limited. As a result, the uneven buying patterns of our customers may cause fluctuations in our operating results, which
could cause our stock price to decline.
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Other sources of delays that lead to long sales cycles, or even a sales loss, include current and potential customers’
internal budgeting procedures, internal approval and contracting procedures, procurement practices, and testing and
acceptance processes. Recently, our customers' budgeting procedures have lengthened. The sales cycle for larger
deployments now typically ranges from six to twenty-four months. The deferral or loss of one or more significant sales
could significantly affect our operating results, especially if there are significant selling and marketing expenses
associated with the deferred or lost sales.

Managing Growth and Slowdowns—We may have difficulty managing expansions and contractions in our operations,
which could reduce our chances of maintaining or restoring our profitability.

We experienced rapid growth in revenues and in our business during 1999 and 2000 followed by significant
slowdowns in 2001, 2002, and 2003 that have placed, and may continue to place, a significant strain on our
management and operations. For example, our revenues increased to $113.5 million in 2000 from $61.5 million in
1999. Then revenues fell to $79.1 million in 2001 and to $54.3 million in 2002, and then increased slightly to $54.9
million in 2003. As a result of our historical growth and potential future growth or slowdowns, we face several risks,
including the following:

¢ the need to improve our operational, financial, management, informational, and control systems;
¢ the need to hire, train, and retain highly skilled personnel; and

¢ the challenge to manage expense reductions without impacting development strategies or our long-term goals.

We cannot ensure that we will be able to successfully manage growth or slowdowns successfully or profitably.

Acquisitions—We have acquired multipie companies and lines of business, and we may pursue additional acquisitions in
the future. These activities involve numerous risks, including the use of cash, acquired intangible assets, and the
diversion of management attention.

We have acquired multiple companies and lines of business. As a result of these acquisitions, we face numerous
risks, including the following:

¢ integrating the existing management, sales force, technicians, and other personne! into one culture and
business;

* integrating manufacturing, administrative, and management information and other control systems into our
existing systems;

* developing and implementing an integrated business strategy over what had previously been independent
companies;

¢ developing compatible or complementary products and technologies from previously independent operations,
and

s pre-acquisition liabilities associated with the companies or intellectual property acquired, or both.
The risks stated above are made more difficult because most of the companies we have acquired are located

outside of the United States. In addition, if we make future acquisitions, these risks will be exacerbated by the need to
integrate additional operations at a time when we may not have fully integrated all of our previous acquisitions.

if we pursue additional acqguisitions, we will face similar risks as those outlined above and additional risks,
including the following:
« the diversion of our management’s attention and the expense of identifying and pursuing suitable acquisition
candidates, whether or not consummated;
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e negotiating and closing these transactions;
* the pdssible need to fund these acquisitions by dilutive issuances of equity securities or by incurring debt; and

e the potential negative effect on our financial statements from an increase in other intangibles, write-off of
research and development costs, and high costs and expenses from completing acquisitions.
i
We cannot ensure that we will locate suitable acquisition candidates or that, if we do, we will be able to acquire
them and then iintegrate them effectively, efficiently, and successfully into our business.

Competition—Competition could reduce our market share and decrease our net sales.

The market for our products is fragmented and intensely competitive, both inside and outside the United States,
and is subject;to rapid technological change, evelving industry standards, regulatory developments, and varied and
changing customer preferences and requirements. We compete with a number of United States and international
suppliers that vary in size and in the scope and breadth of the products and services offered.

The following table sets forth our principal competitors in each of our product categories.

Product Category Principal Competitors

Wireline Access 3M Dynatel; Acterna Corporation; Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Consultronics;
Fluke Corporation; Trend Communications

Fiber Optics Acterna Caorporation; Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Digital Lightwave, Inc.;
: Exfo Electro-Optical Engineering Inc.; NetTest; Trend Communications

Cable TV Acterna Corporation; Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Trilithic, Inc.

Signaling Agilent Technologies, Inc.; Inet Technologies, Inc.; NetTest

Many of these competitors have longer operating histories, larger installed customer bases, longer relationships
with customers, wider name recognition and product offerings, and greater financial, technical, marketing, customer
service, and other resources than we have.

We expect that as our industry and markets evolve new competitors or alliances among competitors with existing
and new technologies may emerge and acquire significant market share. We anticipate that competition in our markets
will increase, and we will face continued threats to our market share and price pressure on our products. Also, over
time, our profitability, if any, may decrease. In addition, it is difficult to assess accurately the market share of cur
products or of Sunrise overall because of the high degree of fragmentation in the market for service verification
equipment. As 4 result, it may be difficult for us to forecast accurately trends in the market, which of our products will
be the most competitive over the longer term, and therefore, what is the best use of our cash and human and other
forms of capital.’

Dependence on Key Employees—If one or more of our senior managers were to leave, we could experience difficulty in
replacing them and our operating results could suffer.

Our success depends to a significant extent upon the continued service and performance of a relatively small
number of key senior management, technical, sales, and marketing persannel. In particular, the loss of either of two of
our founders, Paul Ker-Chin Chang or Paul A. Marshall, would likely harm our business. Neither of these individuals is
bound by an employment agreement with us, and we do not carry key man life insurance. If any of our senior managers
were to leave Sunrise, we would need to devote substantial resources and management attention to replace them. As a
result, management attention may be diverted from managing our business, and we may need to pay higher
compensation toreplace these employees.

1
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Dependence on Sole and Single Source Suppliers—Because we depend on a limited number of suppliers and some sole
and single source suppliers that are not bound by {ong-term contracts, our future supply of parts is uncertain.

We purchase many key parts, such as microprocessors, field programmable gate arrays, bus interface chips,
optical components, and oscillators, from single source or sole suppliers, and we license certain software from third
parties. We rely exclusively on third-party subcontractors to manufacture some sub-assemblies, and we have retained,
from time to time, third party design services in the development of our products. We do not have fong-term supply
agreements with these vendors. In general, we make advance purchases of some products and components to help to
ensure an adequate supply. In the past, we have experienced supply problems as a result of financial or operating
difficulties of our suppliers, shortages, and discontinuations resulting from component obsolescence or other shortages
or allocations by supptiers. Qur reliance on these third parties involves a number of risks, including the following:

s the unavailability of critical products and components on a timely basis, on commercially reasonabie terms, or
atall;

* the unavailability of products or software licenses, resulting in the need to qualify new or alternative products
or develop or license new software for our use and/or to reconfigure our products and manufacturing process,
which could be lengthy and expensive;

s the likelthood that, if these products are not available, we would suffer an interruption in the manufacture and
shipment of our products until the products or alternatives become available;

¢ reduced control over product quality and cost, risks that are exacerbated by the need to respond, at times, to
unanticipated changes and increases in customer orders;

¢ the unavailability of, or interruption in, access to some process technologies; and

e exposure to the financial problems and stability of our suppliers.

In addition, the purchase of these components on a sole source basis subjects us to risks of price increases and
potential quality assurance problems. This dependence magnifies the risk that we may not be able to ship our products
on a timely basis to satisfy customers’ orders. We cannot ensure that one or more of these factors will not cause delays
or reductions in product shipments or increases in product costs, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on
our business.

Risks of International Operations—Qur plan to expand sales in international markets could lead to higher operating
expenses and may subject us to unpredictable regulatory and political systems.

Sales to customers located outside of the United States represented 39% of our net sales in 2003, 30% in 2002,
and 38% in 2001, and we expect international revenues to continue to account for a significant percentage of net sales
for the foreseeable future. In addition, an important part of our strategy calls for further expansion into international
markets. As a result, we will face various risks relating to our international operations, including the following:

e potentially higher operating expenses, resulting from the establishment of international offices, the hiring of
additional and local personnel, and the localization and marketing of products for particular countries’
technologies;

e the need to establish relationships with government-owned or subsidized telecommunications providers and
with additional distributors;

e fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates and the risks of using hedging strategies to minimize our
exposure to these fluctuations;
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e potentially adverse tax consequences related to acquisitions and cperations, including the ability to claim
goodwill deductions and a foreign tax credit against U.S. federal income taxes; and

e possible disruptions to our customers, sales channels, sources of supply, or production facilities due to wars,
terrorist acts, acts of protest or civil disobedience, or other conflicts between or within various nations and due
to variations in crime rates and the rule of law between nations.

We cannctiensure that one or more of these factors will not materially and adversely affect our ability to expand into
international markets or our revenues and profits.

In addition, the Asia/Pacific and Latin America regions have experienced instability in many of their economies and
significant devaluations in local currencies. 22% of our sales in 2003, 17% of cur sales in 2002, and 19% of our sales
in 2001 were from customers located in these regions. These instabilities may continue or worsen, which could have a
materially adverse effect on our results of operations. If international revenues are not adequate to offset the additional
expense of expanding international operations, our future growth and profitability could suffer.

Operations in Taiwan—We rely on our subsidiary in Taiwan to manufacture a substantial portion of our products, and our
reputation and results of operations could he adversely affected if this subsidiary does not perform as we expect.

We produce a substantial portion of our products at our subsidiary in Taiwan and plan to concentrate more of our
production there in the future. We depend on our subsidiary to produce a sufficient volume of our products in a timely
fashion and at satisfactory quality levels. If we fait to manage our subsidiary so that it produces guality products on time
and in sufficient quantities, our reputation and results of operations could suffer. In additions, we rely on our Taiwan
subsidiary to place orders with suppliers for the components they need to manufacture our products. If they fail to place
timely and sufﬁcjent orders with their suppliers, our results of operations could suffer.

The cost, quality, and availability of our Taiwan operation is essential to the successful production and sale of our
products. Our increasing reliance on this foreign subsidiary for manufacturing exposes us to risks that are not under our
immediate control and which could negatively impact our results of operations. For example, a recurrence of the Severe
Acute Respiratory Syndrome (SARS) outbreak that occurred in Asia last year could result in quarantines or closure of
our manufacturing operation or its suppliers. In addition, transportation delays and interruptions, political and economic
disruptions, the imposition of tariffs, quotas, or other import or export controls, changes in governmental policies and
regulations, and natural disasters could aiso adversely impact our Taiwan operation and negatively impact our results of
operations. See “Risk Factors Affecting Future Operating Results—Dependence on Sole and Single Source Suppliers
and—Risks of International Operations” for a discussion of risks associated with concentrating production activities at
one facility that is' outside the United States.

Concentration of Control—0ur executive officers and directors retain significant control over us, which allows them to
decide the outcome of matters submitted to stockholders for approval. This influence may not be beneficial to all
stockholders.

As of December 31, 2003, Paul Ker-Chin Chang, Paul A. Marshall, and Robert C. Pfeiffer beneficially owned
approximately 26%, 24%, and 13%, respectively, of our cutstanding shares of common stock. Consequently, these
three individuals, control approximately 63% of our outstanding shares of common stock and to the extent they act
together would be able to control the election of -our directors and the approval of significant corporate transactions that
must be submitted to a vote of stockholders. In addition, Mr. Chang, Mr. Marshall, and Mr. Pfeiffer constitute three of
the six members of the board of directors and have significant influence in directing the actions taken by the board. The
interests of these :persons may canflict with the interests of other stockholders, and the actions they take or approve
may be contrary to those desired by other stockholders. This concentration of ownership and control of the
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management and affairs of our company may also have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in controt of our
company that other stockholders may consider desirable.

Potential Product Liability—Our products are complex, and our failure to detect errors and defects may subject us to
costly repairs and product returns under warranty and product liability litigation.

Qur products are complex and may contain undetected defects or errors when first introduced or as enhancements
are released. These errors may occur despite our testing and may not be discovered until after a product has been
shipped and used by our customers. Many of the products that we ship contain imperfections that we consider to be
insignificant at the time of shipment. We may misjudge the seriousness of a product imperfection and allow it to be
shipped to our customers. These risks are compounded by the fact that we offer many products with multiple hardware
and software modifications, which makes it more difficult to ensure high standards of quality control in our
manufacturing process. The existence of these errors or defects could result in costly repairs and/or returns of products
under warranty and, more generally, in delayed market acceptance of the product or damage to our reputation and
business.

In addition, the terms of our customer agreements and purchase orders which provide us with protection against
unwarranted claims of product defects and errors may not protect us adequately from unwarranted claims against us,
unfair verdicts if a claim were to go to trial, settlement of these kinds of claims, or future regulation or laws regarding our
products. OQur defense against such claims in the future, regardiess of their merit, could result in substantial expense to
us, diversion of management time and attention, and damage o our business reputation and our ability to retain
existing customers or attract new customers.

Intellectual Property Risks—Policing any unauthorized use of our intellectual property by third parties and defending any
intellectual property infringement claims against us could he expensive and disrupt our business.

Our intellectual property and proprietary technology is an important part of our business, and we depend on the
development and use of various forms of intellectual property and proprietary technology. As a result, we are subject to
several related risks, including the risks of unauthorized use of our intellectual property and the costs of protecting our
intellectual property.

Much of our intellectual property and proprietary technology is not protected by patents. If unauthorized persons
were to copy, obtain, or otherwise misappropriate our intellectual property or proprietary technology without our
approval, the value of our investment in research and development would decline, our reputation and brand could be
diminished, and we would likely suffer a decline in revenue. We believe these risks, which are present in any business
in which intellectual property and proprietary technology play an important role, are exacerbated by the difficulty in
finding unauthorized use of intellectual property in our business, the increasing incidence of patent infringement in our
industry in general, and the difficulty of enforcing intellectual property rights in some foreign countries.

In addition, litigation has in the past been, and may in the future be, necessary to enforce our intellectual property
rights. This kind of litigation is time-consuming and expensive to prosecute or resolve, and results in substantial
diversion of management resources. We cannot ensure that we will be successful in that litigation, that our intellectual
property rights will be held valid and enforceable in any litigation, or that we will otherwise be able to protect our
intellectual property and proprietary technology.

In the future, we may receive notices from holders of patents that raise issues as to possible infringement by our
products. As the number of telecommunications test, measurement, and network management products increases and
the functionality of these products further overlap, we believe that we may become subject to allegations of infringement
given the nature of the telecommunications industry and the high incidence of these kinds of claims. Questions of
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infringement and the validity of patents in the field of telecommunications technologies involve highly technical and
subjective analyses. These kinds of proceedings are time consuming and expensive to defend or resolve, result in
substantial diversion of management resources, cause product shipment delays, and could force us to enter into royalty
or license agreements rather than dispute the merits of the proceeding initiated against us.

Anti-takeover Provisions—Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents could prevent or delay a change of control
and, as a result, negatively impact our stockholders.

Some provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may have the effect of discouraging, delaying, or
preventing a change in control of our company or unsolicited acquisition proposals that a stockholder may consider
favorable. These provisions provide for the following:

e authorizing the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock;

* 3 classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;

¢ prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;

4 requiring super-majority voting to effect certain amendments to our certificate of incorporation and by-laws;
e limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockhaolders;

¢ prohibiting stockholder action by written consent; and

e establishing advance notice requirements for nominations for election to the board of directors or for proposing
matters that can be acted upon at stockholders meetings.

Some provisions of Delaware law and our stock incentive plans may also have the effect of discouraging, delaying,
or preventing a change in control of our company or unsolicited acquisition proposals. These provisions also could limit
the price that some investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock.

|
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We sell our' products in North America, Asia, Latin America, Africa, the Middle East, and Europe and maintain
operations in several different countries. Changes in currency exchange rates affect the valuation in our financial
statements of the assets and liabilities of these operations. We also have a small amount of sales denominated in Euros
and the Canadian dollar, which are also affected by changes in currency exchange rates. To hedge these risks, we have
at certain times used derivative financial instruments. However, as of December 31, 2003, we had no derivative
financial instruments or other foreign exchange risk hedging devices. With or without hedges, our financial results could
be affected by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, although foreign exchange risks have not been material to
our financial position or results of operations so far.

We are exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and changes in the market values of our investments. Qur
exposure to market rate risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to our investment portfolio. We have not held
derivative financial instruments in our investment portfolio. We invest our excess cash in depository accounts with
financial institutidns, in debt instruments of United States governmental agencies, and in debt instruments of high-
quality carporate .issuers, and, by policy, we limit the amount of credit exposure to any one issuer. We protect and
preserve our invested funds by limiting default, market, and reinvestment risk through portfalio diversification and
review of the financial stability of the institutions with which we deposit funds and from whom we purchase debt
instruments.

Investments in both fixed rate and floating rate interest earning instruments carry a degree of interest rate risk.
Fixed rate securities may have their fair market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest rates, while floating
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rate securities may produce less income than expected if interest rates fall. Due in part to these factors, our future
investment income may fall short of expectations due to changes in interest rates, or we may suffer losses in principal if
forced to sell securities that have declined in market value due to changes in interest rates. Because our investment
policy restricts us to conservative, interest-bearing investments and because our business strategy does not rely on

generating material returns from our investment portfolio, we do not expect our market risk exposure on our investment
portfolio to be material.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Sunrise Telecom Incorporated

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Sunrise Telecom Incorporated and subsidiaries
(the Company) as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period
ended December 31, 2003. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reascnable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reascnable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Sunrise Telecom Incaorporated and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the results

of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.

KPMme LIP

Mountain View, California
January 28, 2004
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share data)

December 31,

2003 2002
ASSETS
Current assets:,
Cash and cashequivalents . . ... ... .. .. $ 39,885 $ 36,440
Marketable seCUMties . ... o — 1,023
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $1,380 and $1,389, respectively .............. 13,112 13,019
INVENTOTIES .+ . oo o et et et e e e 7,286 8,143
Prepaid expenses and other assets ... ... ... .. . . 577 708
Income taxes receivable ... .. . — 348
Deferred tax asset . .. o e 5,604 4,746
Total current assets . ... 66,464 64,427
Property and equipment, Net ... . e e 26,929 28,126
Restricted Cash . . .. 106 106
Marketable SeCUNIES . . . o i i e e 2,133 —
GoOdWIll 12,815 12,656
Intangible assets, Net . ... . 5,869 8,754
Deferred tax assels .. . o e 1,660 2,331
Loantorelated party .. ... ... L — 1,051
Ohr 5SS . .o 631 1,470
TOtal @SSEES ..o\t te $116,607 $118,921
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Shart-term borrowings and current portion of notes payable . ... ... ... . L. $ 382 % 410
ACCOUNtS payable .. .. 1,729 1,869
Other acCrued EXPENSES . . .o ot 8,979 8,296
Income taxes payable ... .. 23 —
Deferred reVeNUE ... i 660 1,081
Total current liabilities ... .. .o 11,773 11,656
Notes payable, less current portion .. ... ... 1,095 1,177
Beferred revenue ... 178 314
Other liabilities ... .. 4 5
Total Habilities . ... 13,050 13,152
Commitments
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value per share; 10,000,000 authorized shares; none issued
and OUStANAING . .. oo — —
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 175, 000,000 shares authorized; 51,827,926 and
51,233,309 shares issued as of December 31,2003 and 2002, respectively; 50,076,047 and
49 477 609 shares outstanding as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively ... .... .. 50 49
Additional paid-in capital . ... ... 69,099 68,462
Deferred stock-based compensation ......... ... . . .. .. (267) (2,124)
Retained armings . . ... i e 33,294 39,158
Accumulated other comprehensive INCOME . ... . ..ot e 1,381 224
Total steckholders' equity . ... ... e 103,557 105,769
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .. ... ... ... .. ... . ... $116,607 $118,921

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
et SaIES ..o $54,949 $54,333 $79,059
Costofsales ... .. 19,304 18,605 26,246

Gross pProfit ..o 35,645 35,728 52,813
Operating expenses:

Research and development ... .. . e 16,087 16,741 17,753

Sellingand marketing . . ... .. 16,964 16,768 20,329

General and administrative ... ... . . e 9,814 11,446 13,692

Total operating eXpenses . ... ... 42,865 44955 51,774

Income (loss) from operations . ... ... .. . e (7,220)  (9,227) 1,039
Other iINCoMeE, NBL ... . 875 895 2,482

Income (loss) before INCOME taxes . ... .. e (6,345) (8,332) 3,521
Income tax expense (benefit) ... .. .. e (2,475)  (3,333) 704

NEtINCOME (I0SS) .« . . ettt e e e e $(3,870) $(4,999) $ 2,817
Earnings (loss) per share:

BaSIC ot $ (0.08) $ (0.10) $ 0.06

DIUtEd © oo $ (0.08) $ (0.10) $ 005
Shares used in computing earnings per share:

BasiC 49,750 49854 50,195

DilUtEd o 49,750 49,854 51,325

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (loss)

(in thousands)

Accumulated

M Agglit(;?i':lal Stgg;(%?sded Retained Comp(::ahhzrnsive Stoc}-(?lﬁlders' Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital Compensation Earnings Income (Loss) Equity Income (Loss)

Balances, December 31, 2000 . ... .. 49941 $50 $68,317 $(6,611)  $43961 $ (73) $105,644
Exercise of common stock options . . . 446 — 398 — — — 398
Common stock issued under

Employee Stock Purchase Plan . .. 264 — 1,273 — — — 1,273
Repurchase of common stock ... ... (226) — (319) — (634) — (853)
Deferred stock-based compensation . . — — (182) 182 — — —
Amortization of defefred stock-based

compensation ................. — — — 2,125 — — 2,125
Tax benefit from stock option plans . . — — 456 — — — 456
Change in unrealized gain on available-

for-sale investments, net .. ..... ... — — — — — 19 18 $ 19
Cumulative translation adjustment . . . — — — — — (126) (126) (126)
Netincome ..................... — — — — 2,817 — 2,817 2,817
Comprehensive income . ... ........ $2,710
Balances, Decembef 31, 2001 ... ... 50,425 50 69,943 (4,304) 46,244 (180) 111,753
Exercise of common'stock options . .. 268 — 166 — — — 166
Common stock issued under

Employee Stock Purchase Plan ... 315 — 727 — — — 727
Repurchase of common stock .. ... . (1,530) (1) (2,118) — (2,087) — (4,206)
Deferred stock-based compensation . . — — (319) 319 — — —
Amortization of defefred stock-based

compensation ......... ... ..., — — — 1,861 — — 1,861
Tax benefit from stock option plans . . — — 63 — — — 63
Change in unrealized gain on available-

for-sale investments, net . ......... — —_— — — — 17 (17) $ a7
Cumulative translation adjustment . . . — — — — — 421 421 421
Netloss ..o .. — — — — (4,999) — (4,999) (4,999)
Comprehensive loss' . ............. $(4,595)
Balances, December 31,2002 .. .. .. 49,478 49 68,462 (2,124) 39,158 224 105,769
Exercise of commonistock options . . . 374 1 278 — — — 279
Common stock issued under

Employee Stock Purchase Plan . .. 224 — 437 — — — 437
Deferred stock-based compensation . . — — (57) 57 — — —
Amortization of deferred stock-based

compensation ................. —_ — — 1,800 — — 1,800
Reduction in tax benefit from stock

optionplans ................... — — (21) — — — (21)
Cash dividend of $0.04 per share . . .. — — — — (1,994) — (1,994)
Change in unrealized| gain on available-

for-sale investments, net . ......... — — — — — 701 701 $ 701
Cumulative translation adjustment ... — — — — — 456 456 456
Netloss ......... e —_ — — — (3,870) — (3,870) (3,870)
Comprehensive loss .............. T%(2,713)
Balances, December 31,2003 ... ... 50,076 $50 $63,099 $ (267) $33,294 $1,381 $103,557

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities: ,
NETINCOME (I0SS) .« o'ttt e $(3,870) $ (4999) $ 2,817
Adjustments to reconcife net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ... .. .. . e 7,853 7,164 8,427
Amortization of deferred stock-based compensation ....... T 1,800 1,861 2,125
Provision for losses on accounts receivable . ... ... .. .. .. ... . 117 1411 844
Loss on disposal of property and equipment ... .. ... 414 309 199
Purchased in-process research and development ........... ... .. ... ........ 37 — —
Deferred INCOME 1AXES . .o oo (568) (2,458) 368
Changes in operating assets and liabilities (net of acquisition balances):
Accounts receivable . ... . (51) (386) 4,341
IVENTONIES . (8) 439 5,695
Prepaid expenses and ofher assets . ... ... (147) {110 156
Accounts payable and accrued eXpensesS . ... . 433 (1,864) (4,580)
income taxes receivable and payable .. ... ... . 350 (1,286) (635)
Deferred revenUE . . .o . o {557) 626 (6)
Net cash provided by operating activities ........... .. ... . ... .. .. .. ..., 5,803 707 19,751
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of long-term investment ... ... .. . . . .. e — (4) —
Purchases of marketable securities ........ ... .. . . . . . — (3,311) (19,628)
Sales of marketable SECUNIES . . . .. o oo 1,036 5,742 22,475
Capital eXpenditures . ... . e (2,517} (2,5614) (19,375)
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired .. ... .. . . . i, (554) (8,552) (11,274)
Loantorelated party .. ... . — (1,050) —
Repaymentof loantorelated party ... ... o 1,050 — —
Net cash used in investing activities .......... ... ... . i, (985) (9,689) (27,802)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Increase inrestricted cash .. ... . . — (106} —
Payments on short-term DOrmowingS .. ..o e e e e — (49) (177)
Proceeds from notes payable .. ... ... . . 4] 273 577
Paymentsonnotes payable . ........ .. . (440) (517) (626)
Repurchase of common stock . ... .. . . — (4,206) (853)
Dividends paid .. .. .. e (1,994) — —
Net proceeds from issuance of commonstock ... ... . . . . o 437 727 1,273
Proceeds from exercise of stock options . . ........ ... . .. . 279 166 388
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . ....................... (1,677) (3,712} 592
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ..................... 304 421 {126)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ............................ 3,445  (12,273) (7,585)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginningofyear ........ ... ... ... ... . ... .. ... 36,440 48,713 56,298
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year . ... ... ... ... . . .. ... $ 39835 $36,440 $48,713
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest .. ... .. . $27 % 24 $ 44
Cash paid for inCome taxes . .. ... .. . $210 $ 642 $ 808

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Business and Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Business

Sunrise Telecom Incorporated and subsidiaries {the “Company”) was incorporated as Sunrise Telecom, Inc. in
California in October 1991, In July 2000, the Company reincorporated in Delaware and changed its name to Sunrise
Telecom lncdrporated. The Company manufactures and markets service verification equipment that enables service
providers to pre-qualify facilities for services, verify newly installed services, and diagnose problems relating to
telecommunications, cable broadband, and internet networks. The Company sells its products on six continents through
a worldwide nietwork of manufacturers, sales representatives, distributors, and direct sales people. The Company has
wholly-owned :subsidiaries in Norcross, Georgia; Taipei, Taiwan; Modena, ltaly; Tokyo, Japan; Seoul, Korea: Anjou,
Canada; Geneva, Switzerland; Stuttgart, Germany; and Mannheim, Germany. It also has a representative liaison office in
Beijing, China:and a foreign sales corporation in Barbados.

(b) Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned
subsidiaries. A{H significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

{c) Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from a customer order when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive
evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the price is fixed or determinable, and collectibility is
reasonably assured. For product sales, the Company considers delivery to have occurred when title and risk of loss have
been transferred to the customer, which is usually at the time that the product has been picked up by a common
carrier. For services, the Company considers delivery to have occurred once the service has been provided. The
Company uses: objective evidence of fair value to allocate revenue to elements in multiple element arrangements and
recognize revenue when the criteria for revenue recognition have been met for each element. In the absence of
objective evidence of fair value of a delivered element, the Company allocates revenue to the fair value of the
undelivered elements and the residual revenue to the delivered elements. The price charged when an efement is sold
separately genérally determines fair value.

When the‘arrangement with the customer includes future obligations or obtaining customer acceptance, the
Company recognizes revenue when those obligations have been met or customer acceptance has been received. The
Company defers revenue from services and support provided under its warranty programs and recognizes it on a
straight-line basis over the warranty period. Deferred revenue represents amounts received from customers in advance
of services and }support to be provided and amounts received prior fo customer acceptance. Provisions are recorded at
the time of sale for estimated product returns, standard warranty obligations, and customer support.

(d) Product Warranties

The Compqny offers warranties of ane to three years to its customers depending on the specific product and terms
of the customer purchase agreement. The Company’s typical warranties require it to repair or replace defective
products during the warranty period at no cost to the customer. At the time that product revenue is recognized, the
Company records a liability for estimated costs under its warranties. The costs are estimated based on historical
experience. TheiCompany periodically assesses the adequacy of its recorded liability for product warranties and adjusts
the amount as necessary.
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(e) Research and Development-

Costs incurred in the research and development of new products and enhancements to existing products are
expensed as incurred until the product has been completed and tested and is ready for commercial manufacturing. To
date, hardware and software development projects have been completed concurrently with the establishment of
commercial manufacturing and technological feasibility in the form of a working model. Accordingly, development costs
have been expensed as incurred, and no development costs have been capitalized.

(f) Cash Equivalents and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liguid investments with a maturity of 90 days or less when acquired to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 were $33,949,000 and $31,247,000, respectively,
and consist primarily of certificates of deposit with financial institutions, money market funds, and auction rate securities.
The Company determines the appropriate classification of debt and equity securities at the time of purchase and
reevaluates this designation as of each balance sheet date. Investments classified as available for sale are reported at
market value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of other comprehensive
income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses on sales of investments and declines in value determined
to be other than temporary are included in other income, net, in the consclidated statements of operations.

{(g) Restricted cash

Restricted cash is cash held in certificates of deposit by a financial institution that collateralize standby letters of
credit issued by the financial institution on the Company’s behalf (see Note 17).

(h) Fair Value of Financial Instruments

For certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable,
notes payable, and accrued expenses, recorded amounts approximate fair value due to the relatively short maturity
period.

(i) Inventories

inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using the weighted-average method.

(j) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost. Depreciation and amortization is computed using the straight-line
method over the shorter of the estimated useful life of the asset or the lease term for leasehold improvements. Estimated
useful lives range from three to thirty-nine years for buildings and improvements and up to five years for machinery and
equipment.

(k) Intangible Assets

The Company initially records acquired intangible assets at their fair values. The Company amortizes those
acquired intangible assets with estimable useful lives over those lives in proportion to the economic benefits consumed.
The Company has determined that straight-line amortization over two to ten years reasonably approximates the
consumption of these economic benefits. The Company capitalizes the legal and other costs of registering for patents on
technology developed by its own research and development activities. When the patent is issued on this technology or
on acquired patents pending, the Company amortizes the capitalized costs over the estimated useful life or legal life of
the patent, whichever is shorter. l
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
" Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

The Company assesses the recoverability of the carrying value of its goodwill and other intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives annually (generally in the fourth quarter) or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of the asset may not be fully recoverable. Recoverability of goodwill is determined at the
reporting unit level, with the Company as a single reporting unit, using a two-step approach.'First, the carrying amount
of the entirel reporting unit is compared to its fair value, as determined by the market value of the Company’s
outstanding common stock. If the carrying value of the entire reporting unit exceeds its fair value, the second step is
performed. In this step, an impairment loss is recognized for the excess, if any, of the carrying amount of goodwill over
its implied fair value. The implied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwill is the amount by which the fair value of the
entire reporting unit exceeds the sum of the individua! fair values of its assets, except goodwill, less the sum of the
individual fair values of its liabilities. The fair values of individual assets and liabilities may be estimated as the amount
at which theyicould be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing parties. If this information is not available,
fair value is determined based on the best information available under the circumstances. This often involves the use of
valuation technigues, such as the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at a rate commensurate with
the risk involved, or other acceptable valuation technigues.

(1) Long-Lived Assez‘é

Long-lived assets, including property and equipment and identifiable intangible assets, are evaluated for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumnstances indicate that such assets may be impaired, or that the
estimated useful lives are no longer appropriate. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(“SFAS") No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment and Disposal of Long-lived Assets, the impairment evaluation is
performed based on asset groups, which represent the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely
independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets and liabilities. The Company reviews its tong-lived assets for
impairment based on estimated future undiscounted cash flows attributable to the assets. In the event that such cash
flows are not expected to be sufficient to recover the recorded value of the assets, the assets are written down to their
estimated fair values using discounted estimates of future cash flows.

(m) Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes using the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax
assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financiat
statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and for operating loss and tax
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted tax laws expected to apply to
taxable income:in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax laws is recognized in the results of operations in the period that
includes the enactment date.

(n) Business and Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
equivalents and!accounts receivable. The Company's cash equivalents consist primarily of cash on deposit with banks
and money market funds. The Company believes no significant concentrations of credit exist with respect to these
financial instruments.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited as the majority of the Company’s sales are
derived from large telephone operating companies, large cable television system operators, and other established
telecommunication companies with relatively good credit histories located throughout the world. The Company performs
ongoing credit evaluations of its customers. Based on management’s evaluation of potential credit losses, the Company
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

believes its allowance for doubtful accounts is adequate. During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Company had
one customer that accounted for 13% of its net sales. Accounts receivable from this customer were $3,244,000 at
December 31, 2003. No other single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company's net sales during the
year ended December 31, 2003, and the Company had no single customer that accounted for more than 10% of its net
sales during the years ended December 31, 2002 and 2001.

The Company’s customers are concentrated in the telecommunications and cable broadband industries.
Accordingly, the Company's future success depends on the buying patterns of these customers and the continued
demand by these customers for the Company’s products. Additionally, the market is characterized by rapidly changing
technology, evolving industry standards, changes in end user requirements, and frequent new product introductions
and enhancements. Furthermore, the telecommunications industry has experienced and is expected to continue to
experience consolidation. The Company's continued success will depend upon its ability to enhance existing products
and to develop and introduce, on a timely basis, new products and features that keep pace with technological
developments and emerging industry standards. Furthermore, as a result of its international sales, the Company’s
operations are subject to risks of doing business abroad, including but not limited to, fluctuations in the relative values
of currencies, longer payment cycles, and greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable,

(o) Earnings (loss) per Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share (“EPS") is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is computed using the weighted-average number of common and difutive
potential common equivalent shares outstanding during the pericd. Potential common equivalent shares consist of
common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options using the treasury stock method. During each year in the three
year period ended December 31, 2003, certain potential common equivalent shares were excluded from the calculation
of diluted EPS presented in the consolidated statements of operations because their effect would have been anti-
dilutive.

Specifically, diluted EPS does not include the effect of 4,802,000, 4,427,000, and 2,494,000 anti-dilutive potential
commaon equivalent shares for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

The following is a reconciliation of the shares used in the computation of basic and diluted EPS (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Basic EPS—weighted-average number of common shares

outstaNding . ... 49,750 49,854 50,195
Effect of dilutive potential common equivalent shares:
Stock options outstanding . ... .. — — 1,130

Diluted EPS—weighted-average number of common shares and
dilutive potential common equivalent shares outstanding . ......... 49750 49,854 51,325

(p) Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for employee stock-based compensation using the intrinsic-value method, in accordance
with Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock-Issued to Employees. Accordingly,
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SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
'Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

deferred compensation cost is recorded on the date of grant to the extent that the fair value of the underlying share of
common stock exceeds the exercise price for a stock option or the purchase price for a share of common stock. During
1999, the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation cost for stock options issued to employees at
exercise prices that were subsequently determined to have been below the fair value of the stock on the date of grant.
In addition, the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation cost for stock options granted to employees of
Pro.Tel in the first quarter of 2000. The deferred compensation cost associated with both of these stock option grants
has been amottized as a charge against operating results on a straight-line basis over the four year vesting period of the
options. The Company has allocated the amortization expense for deferred stock-based compensation to the
departments in which the related employees’ services are charged.

If compensation expense for the Company’s stock-based compensation plans had been determined in a manner
consistent with the fair value approach described in SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as
amended by SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure—an Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 123, the Company’s net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share, as reported, would have
been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below (in thousands, except per share data):

Years ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss), asreported . .. ... ... .. i %(3,870) $(4,999) $2,817
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in
reported net income (loss), net of related tax effects .. ...... .. .. 1,098 1,117 1,700

Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense
determined under fair value based method for all awards, net of

related taxeffects .. ... o (2,295) (2,185) (2,655)
Pro forma netincome (I05S) . . o oo oot $(5,067) $(6,067) $ 1,862
Earnings (loss) per share, as reported:

BaSIC . oo $ (0.08) % (0.10) $ 0.06

Diluted ... $ (0.08) % (0.10) $ 0.05
Earnings (loss) per share, pro forma:

BasSIC . . $(0.10) $ (0.12) $ 0.04

DILEA v e e e e e $(0.10) $ (0.12) $ 0.04

For the purposes of computing pro forma net income (loss), the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions used to value the option grant are as
follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Dividend yield ....... ... .. ... . L. S, 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expectedterm ... . 5 years 4 years 4 years
Risk-free Interest rate ................ccooiiiiiii oo, 3.01% 297% 5.06%
Volatility 1 (- Y 0.7515 0.7143 1.0638



SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

During 2003, the Company's board of directors declared the Company’s first dividend since 1999. However, the
board of directors did not approve the institution of an annual dividend until January 2004, The Company’s decision not
to incorporate a dividend yield into its valuation of stock options was based on the best information available to
management for the year ended December 31, 2003.

(q) Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America requires the Company to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets
and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates. The Company revises estimates as additional information becomes available.

(r) Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for the Company's foreign subsidiary located in Taiwan is the U.S. dollar. Accordingly, the
Company remeasures the monetary assets and liabilities of this foreign subsidiary to the U.S. dollar at year-end
exchange rates and remeasures the nonmonetary assets and liabilities to the U.S dollar at historical rates. Income and
expense amounts related to monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured to the U.S. dollar at the weighted average
exchange rates in effect during the year, and income and expense accounts related to nonmonetary assets and
liabilities are remeasured to the U.S. dollar at historical exchange rates. Remeasurement gains and losses are
recognized in income in the year of occurrence.

The functional currencies for the Company's other foreign subsidiaries are the local currencies. Accordingly, the
Company applies the period end exchange rate to translate the subsidiary’s assets and liabilities and the weighted
average exchange rate for the period to translate the subsidiary’s revenues, expenses, gains, and losses into U.S.
dollars. Translation adjustments are included as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income
{loss) within stockholders' equity.

(s) Advertising Costs

The Company recognizes the cost of advertising as incurred. Such costs are included in selling and marketing
expenses and totaled approximately $284,000, $439,000, and $1,258,000 during the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

(t) Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The Company adopted SFAS No. 146, Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities as of January
1, 2003. SFAS No. 146 addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities
and nulfifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) issue No. 94-3, Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination
Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring). This statement
requires recognition of a liability for a cost associated with an exit or disposal activity when the liability is incurred, as
opposed to when the entity commits to an exit plan. This statement also requires that the liability is initially measured at
fair value. The provisions of this statement are effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31,
2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 146 did not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or resuits of
operations.
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The Company has adopted FASB Interpretation No. 45, Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others (FIN 45). FIN 45 requires a guarantor to (i)
include disclosure of certain obligations and if applicable, at the inception of the guarantee, recognize a liability for the
fair value of other certain obligations undertaken in issuing a guarantee. The adoption of Interpretation No. 45 did not
have a material effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and
Disclosure—an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123. SFAS No. 148 amends FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation, to provide alternative methods of transition for a company that chooses to change to the
fair-value-based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure
provisions of that statement to require prominent disclosure about the effects that accounting for stock-based employee
compensation iusmg the fair-value-based method would have on reported net income and earnings per share and to
require prominent disclosure about the entity’s accounting policy decisions with respect to stock-based employee
compensation. Certain of the disclosure requirements are required for all companies, regardless of whether the fair
value methad or intrinsic value method is used to account for stock-based employee compensation arrangements. The
Company adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148 and has chosen to continue to account for its
employee incentive stock option plans using the intrinsic value method in accordance with the recognition and
measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, as
permitted by SFAS No. 123. The adoption of the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 148 did not have a material
effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

in January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities (“FIN 467),
which the Company adopted as of January 1, 2003. This interpretation of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51,
Consolidated Financial Statements, addresses consolidation by business enterprises of variable interest entities. Under
current practice, enterprises generally have been included in the caonsclidated financial statements of ancther enterprise
because the ore enterprise controls the others through voting interests. FIN 46 defines the concept of "variable
interests” and requires existing unconsolidated variable interest entities to be consolidated into the financial statements
of their primary beneficiaries if the variable interest entities do not effectively disperse risks among the parties involved.
As of December 31, 2003, the Company has no interests in variable interest entities.

During 2003, the Company adopted Statement No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with
Characteristics of both Liabifities and Equity. This Statement establishes standards for how a company classifies and
measures certairh financial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that a company
classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances). Such
instruments may: have been previously classified as equity. The Company’s adoption of this standard did not have a
material effect onlits financial position or results of operations.

{u) Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior years' consolidated financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the
current year’s presentation.

(2) Related Party Transactions

The Company's CEO, Paul Chang, is also the owner of Telecom Research Center (“TRC"). During 2003, 2002, and
2001, the Company purchased equipment used in its manufacturing process totaling $65,000, $34,000, and $59,000,
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respectively, from TRC. The Company's accounts payable to TRC were $0 and $14,000 at December 31, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

During February 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors and Compensation Committee appraved 2 loan to Paul
Chang, President and Chief Executive Officer, in the amount of $1,050,000. The terms of the loan required Mr. Chang
to pay interest each month at an annual percentage rate of 4.0%. Mr. Chang was required to repay the principal
amount no later than February 18, 2005, and the loan was secured by three million shares of the Company’s common
stock. During 2003, Mr. Chang repaid the entire loan and all accrued interest.

One of the Company’s directors, Jennifer Walt, is a shareholder in the law firm of Littler Mendelson, P.C. During
2003, Littler Mendelson, P.C. did not provide any services to the Company. During 2002 and 2001, Littler Mendelson,
P.C. provided services to the Company totaling $26,000 and $14,000, respectively. The Company had no accounts
payable to Littler Mendelson, P.C. at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

(3) Financial Statement Details
fnventories

Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002
Raw materials .. ... .. $2,429 $4,098
WOrK IN DrOCESS . . . o 2,861 1,801
Finished g00ds . ... 1,996 2,244

$7,286 $8,143

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002
1 1 O $ 8821 $ 8821
BUIINg . . 9,727 9,670
EQUIpmeNt e 20,837 18,076
Furniture and fixtures .. ... 2,283 2,212
Leasehold improvements ... ... . . . 424 513
42,102 39,292
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . ....... ... ... 15,173 11,166 ’

$26,929 $28,126

Depreciation and amortization expense was $4,487,000, $3,768,000, and $3,329,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
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Other Accrfyed Expenses
Other accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002
Accrued compensation and other related benefits .. .......... .. ... ..., $3,875 $3,444
Commissions payable ........... ... .. 1,377 1,759
Salestax payable . ... .. . 558 350
Liability for product warranties .. ...... ... ... . 1,038 1,306
Other accrued BXPENSES it 2,130 1,437

$8,979 $8,296

(4) Vaiuation and Qualifying Accounts
A summary of valuation and gualifying accounts is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at  Charged to Balance
Beginning  Costs and at End
of Year Expenses  Deductions of Year

Allowarice for doubtful accounts:

2003 .. $1,380 % 117 $ 126 31,380
2002.. ... e 675 1,411 697 1,389
2001 ... 982 844 1,151 675

{5) Marketable ‘Securilies

At December 31, 2003, marketable securities consisted of equity securities of Top Union Electronics Corp. (“Top
Union”), a Taiwaﬁ) R.0.C. corporation. At December 31, 2002, marketable securities consisted of auction rate and other
debt securities.

The Company determines the appropriate classification of debt and equity securities at the time of purchase and
reevaluates this designation at each balance sheet date. Investments classified as available for sale are reported at
market value, with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, reported as a separate component of other comprehensive
income (loss) in stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses on sales of investments and declines in value
determined to be other than temporary are included in Other Income, net in the consolidated statements of operations.
Investment securities available for current operations are classified as current assets, and all other investment securities
are classified as non-current assets.

i

During the second guarter of fiscal 2003, shares of Top Union began trading on the GreTai Securities Market,
Taiwan’s over-the-counter exchange, as the result of an initial public offering of Top Union’s common stock. The
Company was required to, and did, sell from its holdings 65,000 Top Union shares with an original cost of $17,000. A
gain of $11,000 was realized from the sale. Since the Company’s investment in Top Union shares has become an
investment in marketable securities with a readily determinable fair value, the Company has classified this investment
as an available-for-sale security stated at fair value, with the unrealized gain, net of taxes, presented as a separate
component of equity. During 2003, the Company revalued the Top Union investment to its fair value resulting in a
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cumulative unrealized gain of $1,081,000, increasing its carrying value to $2,133,000 as of December 31, 2003. Other
comprehensive income was $701,000, net of a tax effect of $380,000, for the year ended December 31, 2003. At
December 31, 2002, this investment was recorded at historical cost and classified within Other Assets on the
Company's balance sheet.

(6) Goodwil! and Other Acquired Intangihle Assets

On January 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. In accordance
with SFAS No. 142, the Company no longer amortizes goodwill from business acquisitions, Had the Company applied
SFAS No. 142 during 2001, actual net loss and lass per share for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and
pro forma net income and earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2001 would be as follows (in
thousands, except per share data):

Years ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss), as reported ... ... ... . ... $(3,870) $(4,999) $2,817
Add back: Goodwill amortization expense, netoftax .............. — — 2,126
Adjusted netincome (J0SS) .. ... ... $(3,870) $(4,999) $4,943
" Earnings (loss) per share, as reported:
BaSIC . . $ (008) $ (0.10) $ 0.06
Diluted ... . $ (0.08) % (0.10) $ 0.05
Adjusted earnings (loss) per share:
BaSIC . $ (0.08) $ (0.10) $ 0.10
DIIEO .. $ (0.08) $ (0.10) $ 0.10

Acquired intangibie assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

As of December 31, 2003

Grass
Carrying  Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount  Amortization Amount

Amortized intangible assets:

Developed technology .. ........... ... .. ... ....... $12,305  $(7,635) $4,670
NON-COMPELE . ... 1,498 (1,082) 416
License . ... ... 560 (291) 269
Patents .. ... 144 (28) 116
Other ... 112 (19) a3

$14,619  $(9,055) 5,564

Unamortized intangible assets:

Patentspending . ...... ... .. . ... . 263

Other e 42

Total .. 305

Intangible assets, net .. .. ... ... $5,869
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As of December 31, 2002

Gross ‘
Carrying  Accumulated Net Carrying
Amount  Amortization Amount

Amortized intangible assets:

Developed technology . .......... oo .. $12,295  $(5,174) $7.121
Non-compete .. ... . 2,002 (1,271) 731
Customer list ... ... ... ... 390 (688) 202
LiCeNSE o 360 (120) 240
Patents ... .. 140 (17) 123
Other e 70 (11 59

$15,757  $(7,281) 8,476

Unamortized intangible assets:

Patentspending .. ... ... ... 219
Other ........ e 53
Total ... .. . . 278
Intangible assets, net ....... ... ... . $8,754

The Company's customer list asset was fully amortized during 2003.

Amortization expense was $3,366,000, $3,396,000, and $5,098,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively.

Estimated future aggregate annual amortization expense for intangible assets is as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

2004 $2,789
2005 1,703
2008 . 769
2007 179
2008 61
Thereafter . 63

$5,564

The changes. in the carrying amount of goodwill during the year ended December 31, 2003 were as follows (in
thousands): ‘

Balance 35 of January 1, 2003 .. ..o\t $12,656
Goodwill acquired . ... . —

Effect of foreign currency translation . ... .. e 159
Balance as of December 31, 2003 . . ... . $12,815

The Company completed its transitional impairment test of goodwill as of January 1, 2002 during the quarter
ended June 30, 2002 and its annual impairment tests of goodwill during the quarters ended December 31, 2003 and

58



SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

2002, as required under SFAS No. 142. The Company did not obtain an indication that goodwill was impaired from any
of the tests. The Company bases its impairment testing on a market capitalization analysis and considers itself to be a
single reporting unit for purposes of the test.

(7) Liabhility for Product Warranties

Changes in the Company’s liability for product warranties during the years ended December 31 are as follows (in
thousands):

Balance at Balance at
Beginning Warranties Warranties End of
of Year Issued Settied Year
2003 .. e $1,306 $318 $(586) $1,038
2002 .. 1,398 892 (884) 1,306
2001 .. 1,459 701 (762} 1,398

(8) Other Assets
Other assets consisted of the following (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002
Top Union investment ... ... . $— $1,066
INSUANCE AEPOSIES o vttt e e 384 252
Other deposits . .. oot e 247 152

$631 $1,470

As discussed in Note 5, the Company’s investment in Top Union was reclassified to available for sale marketable
securities during 2003. '

(8) Short-term Borrowings and Notes Payahle

As a result of various acquisitions completed during prior years, the Company had nine non-interest bearing notes
payable at December 31, 2003. The aggregate outstanding balance on these notes was $443,000. Notes payable also
includes an unsecured loan from the Italian government, which bears interest at 2% a year and is to be repaid by semi-
annua! principal payments over an eight year period which began in July 2003, At December 31, 2003, the outstanding
balance on this lcan was $1,034,000.

Annual amounts to be repaid under all of these notes are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

2004 e $ 382
200D L e 227
2000 L 229
2007 e 137
2008 e 140
Thereafter .. 362

$1,477
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(10) Leases

The Company leases facilities under several operating lease agreements which also require the Company to pay
property taxes and normal maintenance. Future minimum lease payments under these agreements as of December 31,
2003, are as follows (in thousands):

Year ending December 31,

200 $ 901
200D 476
2000 e 127
2007 44
TerEaer o e —
$1,548

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 was approximately $909,000,
$1,030,000, and $1,321,000, respectively.

(11) Capital Sltock

In 2001, the Company's Board of Directors authorized the repurchase of up to $5,000,000 of the Company's
common stack on the open market. The Company repurchased 1,530,000 shares of common stock for an aggregate
amount of $4,206,000, and 217,000 shares of common stock for an aggregate amount of $835,000 under this
program during}ZOOZ and 2001, respectively. The total amount spent on the repurchase exceeded the amount
authorized by $41,000 due to an administrative error, which the Company does not consider significant enough to
require correctioh. In addition, during 2001, the Company repurchased 9,000 shares of unvested common stock for an
aggregate amount of $18,000 from former employees, as permitted by its stock option plan. There were no repurchases
of any common stock during 2003 and of common stock issued pursuant to the stock option plan during 2002.

(12) Stock Compensation Pjans
2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

in April 2000, the Company's Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase
Plan (the “Purchase Plan”). The Purchase Plan became effective upon the Company’s initial public offering. As of
December 31, 2003, 1,450,000 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under the Purchase Plan. The
Purchase Plan permits eligible employees to purchase common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of the
employee’s total base compensation, excluding bonuses, commissions, and overtime and not to exceed $25,000 in any
plan year, at a price equal to 85% of the lower of the fair market value of the common stock on the first day of the
offering period or on the last day of the purchase period. Through December 31, 2003, 838,603 shares had been
issued under the Purchase Plan, leaving 611,397 shares reserved for future issuance. During 2003, 2002, and 2001,
the Company issued 220,239, 315,030, and 264,075 shares, respectively, under the Purchase Plan.

Stock Option Plan

In April 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the adoption of the 2000 Stock Plan (the “Stock Plan”).
The Stock Plan became effective upon the Company’s initial public offering. The total number of shares reserved for
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issuance under the Stock Plan equals 7,150,000 shares of common stock plus 5,250,000 that remained reserved for
issuance under the 1993 stock option plan as of the date the stock plan became effective, for a total of 12,400,000
shares. All outstanding options under the 1993 stock option plan will be administered under the 2000 Stock Plan but
will continue to be governed by their existing terms. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had granted options to
purchase 8,457,014 shares of its common stock to its employees, directors, and consultants and returned 1,858,919
canceled options to the Stock Plan, leaving 5,801,905 shares available for future grants.

Options may be granted as incentive stock options or nonstatutory stock options at the fair market value of such
shares on the date of grant as determined by the Board of Directors. Options granted subsequent to 1996 vest over a
4-year period, and expire at the end of 10 years from the date of grant, or sooner, upon termination of employment or if
terminated by the Board of Directors.

The options granted under the 1993 stock option plan include a provision whereby the option holder may elect at
any time to exercise the option prior to its vesting. Unvested shares so purchased are subject to a repurchase right by
the Company at the original purchase price. Such right lapses at a rate equivalent to the vesting period of the original
option. As of December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 shares issued and subject to repurchase were 4,500, 19,500, and
56,250, respectively.

Option activity was as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Number of  Price Per  Number of Price Per  Number of  Price Per
Options Share Options Share Options Share
Outstanding at beginning of period .. ... . ... 4216918 $3.68 3,304,764 $380 2,921,360 $3.28
Granted ........ ... ... .. 913,064  $2.02 1,727,954  $3.34 1,109,708  $5.09
Exercised . ... .. .. .. (374,378) $0.74 (267 ,415) $0.62 (445,851) $0.89
Canceled ........... .. ... .. ... ... ... (235,698) $4.62 (548,385) $4.81 (280,353) $8.14
Options atend of period ................. 4519906 $354 4216918 $3.68 3,304,764 $3.80
Weighted-average fair value of options
granted during the period ............ .. $1.98 $1.85 $3.75
Weighted-average fair value of options
granted during the period with exercise
prices less than market value at date of
grant ... $ — $ — $ —
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Information regarding stock options outstanding as of December 31, 2003 is summarized in the following table:

Options Outstanding Vested Options
: Number Weighted-Average Weighted- Weighted-
Range of of Options Remaining Contractual Average Number Average
Exercise Prices Outstanding Life (years) Exercise Price Vested Exercise Price
$0.00 159,771 6.16 $ 0.00 — $ 0.00
0.60 20,000 2.28 $ 060 20,000 $ 0.60
1.10-1.58 728,521 4.77 $ 146 619,396 $1.43
1.76-2.17 1,331,435 8.44 $ 194 428,904 $ 2.06
2.40-3.98 1,050,913 8.18 $ 378 479,756 $ 3.88.
4.09-4.94 765,074 7.20 $ 488 548,035 $ 490
5.40-8.54 105,870 7.49 $ 6.03 72,735 $ 6.19
10.00-11.00 321,571 6.29 $10.19 241,002 $10.19
15.00 5,001 6.53 $15.00 5,001 $15.00
20.38 31,750 6.80 $20.38 25,601 $20.38

4,519,906 2,440,430

The Company uses the intrinsic-value based method to account for its stock-based compensation plans. With
respect to options granted in 2000, the Company recorded deferred stock-based compensation of $6,500,010 for the
differences at the grant date between the exercise prices and the fair values. For options granted in 2003, 2002, and
2001, the Company has not recorded any deferred compensation cost since the exercise price of each option equaled
the fair value of the underlying common stock on the grant date. During 2003, 2002, and 2001, deferred stock-based
compensatioh was reduced by $91,000, $319,000, and $182,000, respectively, due to forfeitures of unvested options.

The remaining $267,000 of unamortized deferred stock-based compensation amount for all options granted
through December 31, 2003 is expected to be amortized as charges against operating results during the year ending
December 31, 2004. These charges may be reduced as a result of future forfe|tures of options to which the
unamortized deferred stock-based compensation balance pertains.

See Note 1 (p) for the pro forma net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share amounts that would have been
reported in 2003, 2002, and 2001 had compensation for the Company's stock-based compensation plans been
determined in a manner consistent with the fair value approach described in SFAS No. 148.

(13) Acquisitions

On January 8, 2001, the Company acquired Avantron Technologies, Inc. (“Avantron”), a Canadian company that
specializes in the design and manufacture of cable broadband spectrum analyzers and performance monitoring
systems, for‘$11.9 million in cash, acquisition costs, and short-term notes payable. The Company accounted for this
acquisition using the purchase method of accounting, and, accordingly, recorded goodwill and other intangible assets of
$10.4 million, to be amortized on a straight-line basis over their original estimated useful lives of five years. At
December 31, 2001, the Company had $5.2 million in unamortized goodwill remaining from the Avantron acquisition.
In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company ceased amortizing this goodwill as of January 1, 2002 and reviews
goodwill for impairment annually.

On February 28, 2002, the Company acquired the Calan Cable TV test business from Agilent Technologies for
$7.2 million'in cash and acquisition costs, The Company recorded acquired identifiable intangible assets of $3.5
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million, to be amortized on a straight-line basis over their original estimated useful lives of two-and-a-half to five years,
and goodwill of $2.6 million, which the Company reviews for impairment annually.

On June 19, 2002, the Company acquired the ADSL Tester business from Integrated Telecom Express, Inc.
(“ITex") for $100,000 in cash. The Company recorded goodwill of $68,000, which the Company reviews for impairment
annually.

On September 4, 2002, the Company acquired Luciol Instruments SA (“Luciol”), a Swiss corporation specializing
in fiber optic measurement and instrumentation, for $1.2 million in cash and acquisition costs. The Company recorded
acquired intangible assets of $0.1 miilion, to be amortized on a straight-line basis over their original estimated useful
lives of five years, and goodwill of $1.3 million, which the Company reviews for impairment annually.

On February 28, 2003, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets of GIE GmbH (“GIE"), a German
corporation specializing in wireless and RF measurement instrumentation, for $554,000 in cash and acquisition costs.
The purchase price was determined by negotiation between the Company and GIE's shareholders, taking into
consideration future projections for GIE's business. The transaction was accounted for using the purchase method of
accounting, and the results of GIE's operations and the fair values of the assets acquired have been included in the
consolidated financial statements since the date of the acquisition. The purchase price for GIE was allocated to the
assets acquired based on their fair values as of the date of the acquisition as follows (in thousands):

UL @SSBES . . o o $463
EqUIPMENt e 2
Intangible 8SSets . . . ... 89

Netassets acquired . ... ... . $554

Of the $89,000 of acquired intangible assets, $37,000 was assigned to in-process research and development
assets that were written off at the date of the acquisition. The remaining $52,000 of acquired intangible assets is
developed technology and was being amortized over its estimated remaining weighted average useful life at the date of
acquisition of four years. No goodwill was recorded in this transaction. Concurrent with this acquisition, the Company
entered into a non-compete agreement with certain former owners of GIE obligating it to make payments to the former
owners totaling approximately $100,000 over four years, provided that they perform as stipulated under the
agreements. The Company is amortizing the corresponding non-compete assets on a straight-line basis over their four-
year estimated useful lives. The Company also entered into employment agreements with these same former owners
obligating it to make bonus payments to the former owners totaling approximately $200,000 over four years, in addition
to their regular salaries and subject to certain conditions, primarily related to their continued employment by the
Company. As of August 2003, two of the three former owners of GIE were no longer employed by the Company. Based
on this fact and other actions by the former owners that the Company believes breech the terms of their agreements
with it, the Company might not be required to pay these former owners the bonus or non-compete payments specified
under the acquisition-related agreements. However, the Company continues to accrue the cost of these obligations,
pending the resolution of this matter.

As the Company’'s wireless product development process proceeded, it determined that it would not make
significant use in its wireless product designs of the developed technology that it capitalized at the time of the GIE
acquisition. Therefore, during the fourth quarter of 2003, it wrote off the remaining unamortized balance of $48,000 as
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a charge against other income, net. Also, the Company determined during 2003 that its Mannheim, Germany office
would not be} needed for its wireless product development process and closed that office. As a result, the Company
accrued $160,000 for the remaining future lease payments on the office, which it classified with other accrued
expenses, and the Company wrote off fixed assets with a net book value of $88,000, which it record as a charge against
other income, net. The Company does not expect to incur any other significant costs related to closing this office.

Pro Forma Results of Operations (unaudited)

The following summary is prepared on a pro forma basis and reflects the condensed consolidated results of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, assuming that Avantron, Calan, {TeX, Luciol and
GIE had been acquired at the beginning of the periods presented (in thousands, except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Netsales ..o $54,968 356,324 $89,745
Net income (10SS) ..ottt $(3,905) $(5,552) $ 2,394
Basic earnings (0ss) pershare .. ............c.oouoiiiii.... $ (008 $ (0.11) $ 005
Difuted earnings (Ioss) pershare ... ... . ... .. . $ (008 % (0.11) $ 005
Shares used in pro forma for basic per share computation ....... 49,750 49854 50,195
Shares used in pro forma for diluted per share computation . ... .. 49,750 49,854 51,325

These pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what would have occurred if the acquisitions had been in
effect for theiperiods presented. In addition, they are not intended to be a projection of future results and do not refiect
the synergies, if any, that might be achieved from combined operations.

(14) 401(k) Plan

In 1996, the Company adopted a 401(k) Plan (the Plan). Participaticn in the Plan is available to all full-time employees.
Each participant may elect to contribute up to 15% of his or her annual salary, but not to exceed the statutory limit as
prescribed by the Internal Revenue Code. The Company may make discretionary contributions to the Plan, which vest
annually over:a seven-year period. The Plan does not provide participants with an option to invest in the Company's stock.
The Company's contributions to the Plan were $0, $12,000, and $1,104,000 in 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

(15) lIncome Taxes

The proVision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Curfent expense (benefit):

Federal . . $(2,390) $ (845) $334
State ... 30 2 2
CForeign L 101 (32) —

(2,259) (875) 336

Federal ..o (287) (1,644) 783
State . o 71 (814) (415)
Foreign ..o e — — —

(216) (2,458) 368
$(2,475) $(3,333) $ 704
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Income fax expense (benefit) differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal income tax rate,
34% for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, to pretax income, as a result of the following (in
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thousands):
Years Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001
COMPULEA 18X+« o\ et et e e e $(2,157) $(2,833) $1,197
State taxes, net of federal benefit . ... ... ... . . oL 67 (635)  (272)
Researchicradit . ... . o e (177) (350) (6885)
Foreign sales corporation benefit ...... ... ... ... ... ... . ... (552) — (112}
Tax-exemptinterest .. ... ... — — {132)
Nondeductible stock-based compensation . ..................... 101 160 170
Nondeductible goodwill amortization .......................... 72 72 145
Nondeductible meals and entertainment ......... .. ... ... ... ... 39 33 44
Tax provision to tax return adjustment ............ ... ... ... 85 (104) 184
Other, Nl e 47 224 165
$(2,475) $(3,333) $ 704

During 2003, the Company amended its federal tax returns far the years ended December 31, 1999, 2000, and
2001 in order to claim additional foreign sales corporation benefits. As a result, during 2003 the Company received

federal income tax refunds of $140,000, $317,000, and $95,000 for each of those years, respectively.

The types of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the Company’s deferred tax assets and

liabilities are set out below (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002
Deferred tax assets:
[OWENEOTY TBSBIVES & . ottt e ettt ettt e e e e $ 1246 $ 1,566
Accrued compensationand vacation . ...... ... .. L 496 467
Allowance for doubtful accounts ......... ... . e 550 554
Other accruals and resarveS .. ... i e s 827 1,131
Net operating 10s58S . . .. oo e 1,509 344
Tax credits . .o 1,403 1,226
Accumulated amortization of intangible assets . ............ ... ... .. 4,487 3,496
Total deferred tax @ssets . . ... 10,518 8,784
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment . ... ... .. e (2,121) (1,000)
Unrealized gain on marketable investment securities ................. (380) —
State deferred tax assets, net of federalexpense .. ................... (630) (651)
]2 =Y S (123) (56)
Total deferred tax liabilities .. ........ ... ... .. .. ... . ... .. ... (3,254) (1,707)
Net deferred tax assets . ... oo $ 7,264 $7,077
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In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. Realization of the Company’s deferred tax assets is
dependent upon future tax earnings in specific jurisdictions during the periods in which the temporary differences
between the bock and tax bases upon which the deferred tax assets are based become deductible for tax purposes.
The Company has evaluated all significant available positive and negative evidence, the existence of losses in recent
years, and forecasts of future taxable income in determining the need for a valuation allowance on its deferred tax
assets. The underlying assumptions that the Company used in forecasting future taxable income require significant
judgment and take into account the Company’s recent performance. Based on the evaluation performed, management
believes thatiit is more likely than not that the Company will realize the benefits of its deferred tax assets.

The Company incurred net operating losses in calendar years 2003 and 2002. The Company intends to carry back
a portion of its net operating losses and claim a refund for federal tax purposes. After considering the portion of the net
operating losses that it intends to carry back, the Company has remaining net operating losses for federal and state
income tax ;burposes of approximately $3,480,000 and $2,200,000, respectively, that it expects to carry forward to
reduce future income subject to income taxes. The federal net operating loss will expire, if not used, in 2023, and the
state net opérating loss will begin to expire in 2013.

As of December 31, 2003, unused research and development tax credits of approximately $530,000 and
$873,000 are available to reduce future federal and California income taxes, respectively. The federal research credit
carry forward will begin to expire in 2022, and the California credits will carry forward indefinitely.

(16) Segment tnformation

SFAS No. 131, Disclosure About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, establishes standards for the
manner in which public companies report information about operating segments, products, services, geographic areas,
and major customers in annual and interim financial statements. The method of determining what information to report
is based on the way that management organizes the operating segments within the enterprise for making operating
decisions and assessing financial performance.

The Company considers its Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ”) to be its chief operating decision-maker. The CEO
reviews financial information presented on a consolidated basis accompanied by disaggregated information about
revenue by geographic region for purposes of making operating decisions and assessing financial performance. The
consolidated financial information reviewed by the CEOQ is the same as the information presented in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. In addition, as the Company’s assets are primarily located in its corporate offices
in the United States and not allocated to any specific segment, the Company does nat produce reports for, or measure
the performance of, its segments based on any asset-based metrics. Therefore, the Company operates in a single
operating segment, which comprises the design, manufacture, and sale of equipment for testing telecommunications,
cable broadband, and internet networks.

Revenue information regarding operations in the different gecgraphic regions is as foliows (in thousands):
Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Net sales:
~ North America (United States and Canada) ............... $35,101 $39,002 $52,612
Asia/Pacific . ... ... 10,651 7,877 11,547
Europe/Africa/Middle East .. ... ... .. .. ... ... L. 7,852 6,168 11,189
Latin America . ... oo 1,345 1,286 3,711

$54,949 $54,333 $79,059
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Long-lived assets, excluding financial instruments, deferred tax assets, and intangible assets, were located in the
following geographic regions (in thousands):

December 31,

2003 2002
North America (United States and Canada) .......... ... .. . ... $25,170 $26,465
Asia/PaciflC ..................................................... 1,042 879
Europe/Africa/Middle East .. .. ... .. 717 782

$26,928 $28,126

Revenue information by product category is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001
Net sales:
Wireling access . ... i $24,381 $22,957 $48,648
Cablebroadband . ........ ... . .. . .. 14368 17,840 11,213
Fiberoptics ... . . 13353 11,147 15,094
Signaling ... 2,846 2,389 4,104

$54,948 $54,333 $79,059

These product categories comprise our sole operating segment, telecommunications, cable broadband, and
internet network testing equipment.

(17) Commitments

At December 31, 2003, the Company had five standby letters of credit with a maximum potential future payment
amount of $106,000. These standby letters of credit secure an equal number of performance bonds, for an equal
monetary amount, that were issued by financial institutions to our customers.

(18) Subsequent Events

On January 9, 2004, the Company, with its subsidiary Luciol and a former owner of Luciol, settled an intellectual
property dispute over certain technology for testing fiber optic communication networks. In the settlement, the Company
agreed to pay $500,000 to certain other parties in order to setile zll their claims to the intellectual property. Under the
terms of its acquisition of Luciol, the Company is entitled to indemnification for this amount from the three former
owners of Luciol, who are all now employees of the Company. During January 2004, the Company agreed with these
former owners to accept $300,000 as payment in full of the reimbursement to which the Company is entitled. In
February 2004, the Company amended the terms of the employment agreements with these former owners of Luciol to
reduce the bonus and non-compete payments to be paid to them by approximately $300,000 as the means to provide
the reimbursement due to the Company. The remaining $200,000 of the settlement amount is covered by a provision
for litigation in this same amount that was established by the Company at the time of the Luciol acquisition.

On January 28, 2004, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a $2.5 million dividend, to be paid on February
20, 2004 to stockholders of record as of February 10, 2004.

67




SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

(t9) Quarterty Financial Data (unaudited)

Mar. 31,
2003

June 30,
2003

Sept. 30,
2003

Dec. 31,
2003

Mar. 31,
2002

June 30,
2002

Sept. 30,
2002

Dec. 31,
2002

(in thousands, except per share data)

$11,858 $10,309 $12,338 $20,444
$ 7,355 $ 6,294 $ 7,837 $14,109

Netsales.................
Grossprofit ...............
Income (loss) from

operations . .............
Net income (loss) ..........
Earnings (loss) per share:

$(3494) $(4,522) $(2,026) $ 2,822
$(2,035) $(2,533) $(1,276) $ 1,974

Basic ................ $ (0.04) $ (005 $ (0.03) $ 0.04
Diluted .............. $ (0.04) $ (005 $ (0.03) $ 0.04
Shares used in per share
computation:,
Basic ................ 49,507 49,666 49,819 49,999
Diluted ............... 49,507 49666 49,819 50,913

$ 8649 $14,730 $14,493 $16,461
$ 5645 $ 9,942 $10,024 $10,749

$(5,166) $(2,068) $(1,760) $ (109)
$(3972) $ (738) $ (283) % (6)

$ (0.08) ¢ (0.01) $ (0.O1) $ 000
$ (0.08) $ (0.01) $ (0.01) $ 0.00

50,325
50,325

50,023
50,023

49,622
49,622

49,459
49,459

For the quarter ended March 31, 2003, the Company reclassified costs previously reported as operating expenses
to cost of sales and other income, net. The net effect of these reclassifications decreased gross profit by $372,000 and

increased loss from operations by $13,000 from the amounts previously reported. These reclassifications had no effect

! .
on net loss ar earnings per share.
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ITEM 9, CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

{TEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

(a) The Securities and Exchange Commission defines the term “disclosure controls and procedures” to mean a
company's controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the
reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is recorded, processed,
summarized, and reported within the time periods specified on the Commission’s rules and forms. Our Chief Executive
Officer and our Acting Chief Financial Officer have concluded, based on the evaluation of the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures by our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our
Acting Chief Financial Officer, as of the end of the period covered by this report, that our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective for this purpose.

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting—There was no change in our internal control over
financial reporting during our fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.

Part Il1.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The information required by this ltem with respect to the directors and compliance with Section 16(a) of the
Securities and Exchange Act is incorporated by reference from information provided under the headings “ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS,” “STOCK OWNERSHIP—Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance,” and “GENERAL
INFORMATION,” respectively, contained in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange
Commission relating to our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 12, 2004. The information required by
this Item with respect to our executive officers is contained in ltem 1 of Part | of this Annual Report under the heading
"Executive Officers.”

ITEM 11, EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information provided under the
heading “COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS—Compensation of the Named
Executive Officers” contained in our Proxy Statement.

JTEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference from the information provided under the
headings “"STOCK OWNERSHIP—Beneficial Ownership of Certain Stockholders, Directors and Executive Officers” and
“COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE NAMED EXECUTIVE OFFICERS—Equity Compensation Plan Information”
contained in our Proxy Statement,

ITEM 13, CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this {tem is incorporated by reference from the information provided under the
heading “CERTAIN TRANSACTIONS” contained in our Proxy Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information provided under the
heading “AUDITORS” contained in our Proxy Statement.
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Part IV,

ITEM 15. EXHIIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Our Consolidated Financial Statements are included in Part Il, item 8:
Independent Auditors’ Report
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity and Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(2) Supplementary Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule as of and for the years ended December 31,
2003, 2002, and 2001:
None.
All other schedules are omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required
or because the required information is included in the consolidated financial statements or notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits:
See atfached Exhibit index.

{b) Reports on Form 8-K

On chober 23, 2003, the Registrant furnished a Current Report on Form 8-K reporting earnings for the third
quarter of 2003.*

*  This furnished Current Report on Form 8-K is not deemed filed or incorporated by reference into any filing unless
specifically stated therein.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in the city of San Jose, State of California on March 29,

2004,

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secvurities Act of 1934, this Registration Statement has been signed by the

SUNRISE TELECOM INCORPORATED

By: /s/ _PauL Ker-CHin CHANG

Paul Ker-Chin Chang
President and Chief Executive Officer

following persons in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature

/s/ PauL KER-CHIN CHANG

Paul Ker-Chin Chang

/s/ PauL A. MARSHALL

Paul A. Marshall

/s/ SCOTT E. GREEN

Scott E. Green

/s/  ROBERT C. PFEIFFER

Robert C. Pfeiffer

8/ PATRICK PENG-KOON ANG

Patrick Peng-Koon Ang

/s/ Henry P. HUFF

Henry P. Huft

/s/ JENNIFER J. WALT

Jennifer ). Walt

Title

President and Chief Executive Officer
{Principal Executive Officer), Director

Acting Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer), Director

Corporate Controller (Principal

Accounting Officer)

Director

Director

Director

Director
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March 29, 2004

March 28, 2004

March 29, 2004

March 29, 2004

March 23, 2004

March 29, 2004
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Exhibit Index

Set forth below is a list of exhibits that are being filed or incorporated by reference into this report on Form 10-K:

Exhibit '
Number ‘ Description
2.1 Asset Purchase Agreement dated January 23, 2002 among between Agilent Technologies, inc. and Sunrise

Telecom Incorporated and Amendment #1 to Asset Purchase Agreement dated February 28, 2002
(Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to Sunrise’s Report on Form 10-K dated March 15, 2002).

2.2 Amendment #2 dated April 30, 2002 to the Asset Purchase Agreement dated January 23, 2002 among
between Agilent Technologies, Inc. and Sunrise Telecom Incorporated (incorporated by reference from
Exhibit 2.2 to Sunrise’s Report on Form 10-Q dated May 10, 2002).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.1 to Sunrise’s
Report on Form 10-K dated March 16, 2001).
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 3.2 to Sunrise’s Report on Form
lO-‘K dated March 16, 2001). ‘
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 4.1 to Registration Statement No.
333-32070).
10.1 Purchase and Sale Agreement and Escrow Instructions dated November 5, 1999 between Sunrise and

Enzo Drive, LLC (Incarporated by reference from Exhibit 10.2 to Registration Statement No. 333-32070).

10.2 Sha%re Purchase Agreement dated January 8, 2001 among each of the shareholders of Avantron
Technologies Inc. and Sunrise Telecom Avantron Division Corp., a Nova Scotia unlimited liability company
and wholly-owned subsidiary of Sunrise (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 2.1 to Sunrise’s Report on
Form 8-K dated February 1, 2001).

10.3 Form of Indemnification Agreement between Sunrise and each of its Officers and Directors (Incorporated by
reference from Exhibit 10.6 to Registration Statement No. 333-32070). t

104 2000 Stock Option Plan (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.7 to Registration Statement No.
333-32070). 1

10.5 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.8 to Registration
Statement No. 333-32070). 1

10.7 Employee Agreement dated January 8, 2001 between Avantron Technologies, Inc. and Raffaele Gerbasi
and Amendment #1 dated March 12, 2002 (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.11 to Sunrise’s
Report on Form 10-K dated March 15, 2002). t

10.8 Secured Promissory Note and Security Agreement between Sunrise Telecom Incorporated and Paul
Ker-Chin Chang dated February 19, 2002 (Incorporated by reference from Exhibit 10.12 to Sunrise’s Report
on Form 10-Q dated May 10, 2002).

211 Listof Subsidiaries.

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP.

311 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302.

312 Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302.

321 Certification of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section
1350:.

t  Indicates management contract or compensatory plan, contract or arrangement.
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Sunrise 2003 Gorporate Profile

Sunrise Telecom manufactures and markets service verification equipment to pre-gualify, verify, and diagnose
telecommunications, cable broadband, and Internet networks. Our products offer broad functionality, leading-edge
technology, and compact size to test a variety of new broadband service connections and associated infrastructure
—such as wireline access (including DSL) fiber optics, cable broadband, and signaling networks. We design our
products to maximize technicians’ effectiveness in the field and to provide realistic network simulations that enable
equipment manufacturers to test their products. We were founded in 1991 and are headquartered in San Jose,

California. We distribute our products through a network of sales representatives, distributors, and a direct sales
force throughout six continents.

Sunrise Telecom stock is traded on Nasdag under the symbol SRTI.

SunSet SDH /Fiber Optics
The SunSet SDH, SunSet OCx,

Netracker /Signaling Protocol
The NeTracker and 3G Master grew
SunSet 10G, and the STT grew optical during the year to provide versatile
sales by 20% in 2003 compared with : solutions for integrating VOIP in the
2002. The SunSets deliver powerful public network and troubleshooting
handheld transmission and service mobile network service enhancements.
test solutions, and the STT provides a :

full-size solution for the central office.

SunSet MTT /Wircline Access CM1000 /CzYle Broadband

The SunSet MTT offers the telecom industry’s broadest selection of Our cable broadband division broadened its product lines in 2003.
test modules for the access network in a single modular platform — The CM family added two new members to join the CM1000,
The MTT simplifies technicians' training, reduces acquisition costs, which pioneered cable modem testing. The new AT2500 Spectrum

and lightens the load. In 2003, the MTT added gigabit ethernet,

Analyzer better serves customers’ growing bandwidth needs, and
optical loss testing, voice over 1P, and VDSL applications.

the new realWORX system offers the best measurements available
in a monitoring system.

Versatility

Dependability Performance

Stability

Strategy Solutions

Select Customeaers in 2003

AT&T Corporation Etisalat Telkom SA, Ltd.

BCE Inc. (Bell Canada) Jupiter Telecommunications Time Warner Cable
BellSouth Telecom, inc. Co., Ltd. United States Department
British Telecom KT Freetel Co., Ltd. of Defense

Chungwa Telecom Nippon Telegraph and Verizon Communications Inc.
Comecast Cable Telephone Corporation

Cox Communications, Inc. SBC Communications Inc.
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